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1 Working together for a safer Scotland

It gives me great pleasure to introduce our annual report 
and accounts for 2015-16.  Within the document, you will 
find details of the progress made by the Scottish Fire and 
Rescue Service (SFRS) in its third year of operating as a 
national organisation.

Against a challenging public service backdrop our people 
have shown outstanding dedication and commitment by 
working through a complex changing environment to lay 
the foundations of a fit for purpose, modern fire and rescue 
service for Scotland.  Building on the work of our initial 
two years, we have continued to embed new structures, 
systems and processes to support delivery of excellent 
front line prevention and emergency response services.  

Improving safety will always remain a primary focus for us.  
The job of a firefighter is inherently dangerous and as a 
result we are making sure our health, safety and wellbeing 
arrangements are robust and tested by rigorous audits 
and inspections.  Through our operational intelligence, 
operational assurance and firefighter fitness programmes 
we continue to increase safety by improving standards of 
preparedness.  

Together with our Fire Bridge Union colleagues, we 
committed to ensuring that all possible lessons from 
the tragic death of Firefighter Ewan Williamson in 2009 
would be put into action.  The recommendations of 
the joint report, published in March 2016, will be fully 
implemented.

Throughout this last year our commitment to strong 
partnership working has remained integral to our 
approach to improving public safety.  Working as a 
team is firmly embedded into our values and culture, 
which will continue to deepen as our service evolves.  
This approach, as evidenced throughout this report, in 
examples such as our role in the Scottish Government’s 
Out of Hospital Cardiac Arrest Strategy is helping us play a 
significant part in helping address the issue of inequality at 
the very heart of Scotland’s communities.  

This drive to protect communities included responding 
to the impacts of severe storm events across the winter 
months which disrupted the lives of many families and 
people throughout the whole country.  Our staff, in some 
parts of the country, continued to support the public 
throughout these storms despite themselves and their 
families being victims of those same events.  It is this level 
of dedication that means we can and will continue to keep 
people and families safe in spite of the pressures we face.  

During 2015/16 we have also been developing our Long 
Term Financial Strategy.  This builds on the work done 
to establish a Critical Savings Pathway and extends our 
financial planning horizon out to 2025/26, as we seek 
to secure a sustainable financial position for the Service 
over the long term. We expect to publish the outputs of 
this work later in 2016, to complement our future strategic 
direction which will be set out in our new Strategic Plan for 
2016-19.

PAt WAttERS
Chair
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service Board

We will not rest on the successes 
we have generated to date 
in forming a single national 
Fire and Rescue Service for 
Scotland.

Introduction
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But as a major Public Service we will not rest on the 
successes we have generated to date in forming a single 
national Fire and Rescue Service for Scotland.  We are 
now in the process of setting our future strategic direction 
through the preparation of a new Strategic Plan.  

Throughout 2015 we undertook constructive 
engagement with our staff and our corporate and local 
partners in constructing our new plan.  This enabled 
us to establish and take into account their views on our 
future strategic direction.  We have produced the Plan to 
guide the Service in meeting the emerging challenges 
facing Scotland which includes matters as diverse as 
climate change, the changing demographic nature 
of our communities, international terrorism as well as 
strengthening partnership working across the public 
sector.  

Our new plan will also set out our vision in terms of 
developing the role of the Service in dealing with these 
and other relevant issues and it also fully aligns with the 
strategic requirements made of the Service in the new Fire 
and Rescue Framework for Scotland 2016.  

Broadly speaking we intend to develop our approach 
to working more effectively with our partners in meeting 
the challenges our communities face and in driving hard 
internally on our own transformational journey also.  

We will become a more flexible and efficient organisation 
and one where we seek to empower our staff and 
communities further as we embark upon the next phase of 
transformation in the SFRS.  

The Strategic Plan, following ministerial approval, will be 
published in October 2016 and implemented over the 
next 3 years and marks the next chapter in our evolving 
journey in working together for a Safer Scotland. 



The Strategic Plan 2013-16 was designed to guide the 
SFRS through an initial period of amalgamation, forging 
one robust and effective service from the existing 
eight.  A formal review of the Plan was initiated last year.
Performance was assessed against the outcomes of several 
high level independent inspections and audits as well as 
against supporting organisational strategies.  This review 
highlighted positive and encouraging results of progress 
made against a backdrop of large scale and complex 
change throughout the initial reform period.  

Following recommendations received from Audit 
Scotland, the lessons we learned from the reform process 
have been compiled into a comprehensive report.  Seven 
key lesson themes were identified through this process 
which will be shared with Scottish Government and the 
wider public sector community to help inform the delivery 
of any future mergers.  

We report annually on key high level targets specified by 
Scottish Government. Performance against these ‘stretch’ 
targets is disappointing this year but is reflective of the 
fluctuating and changing nature of society.   A number of 
social factors are increasingly influencing these targets 
which emphasises our need to work more closely with 
partners across all sectors to address the inequalities 
and vulnerabilities that increase the risk to these types of 
incidents.  These targets are based on traditional methods 
of tracking fire and rescue progress. 

 
As we are taking steps to look beyond our traditional roles 

we need to review what we are measuring to evidence 
our wider impact.  Work is set to commence on a new 
performance framework which will look at these issues 
to support the delivery of our Strategic and Local Plans 
and the strategic priorities outlined in the Fire and Rescue 
Framework for Scotland.

The Transformation Programme containing the core 
change elements required to move to a single service 
was created at the point of reform.  This programme, 
created from Scottish Government’s original ‘blueprint’ 
of our target operating model, received positive progress 
assessment through Gateway Reviews and is nearing 
completion. Some of the key projects successfully 
concluded this year include implementation of a new 
single HR and Payroll System, harmonised terms and 
conditions for all support staff and the launch of our new 
values framework.  

Despite facing significant recruitment and retention 
challenges in our ICT function this year, rescheduling and 
addressing a skills gap using external resources allowed 
us to make good progress on key projects and make 
improvements to our ICT network infrastructure aligning 
with our ambitions set out within our Digital Strategy.  

Our Strategic Intent Programme, designed to rationalise 
our estate portfolio, is also making good progress.  We 
have established our Headquarters in Cambuslang, 
realising the full potential of our modern National Training 
Centre building.  

ALASDAIR HAY
Chief Officer
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

As we are taking steps to look 
beyond our traditional roles 
we need to review what we 
are measuring to evidence our 
wider impact.

Chief Officer’s perspective on performance 
Performance Report
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Development of Service Delivery Headquarters for the 
East and North, at Newbridge in Edinburgh and Dyce in 
Aberdeen respectively, is well underway and premises are 
being renovated to develop an Asset Resource Centre for 
the North East in Dundee.   

Effective command and control is essential for the SFRS. 
At its launch in 2013, the Service inherited eight legacy 
control rooms which gave us a limited ability to mobilise 
and control resources across legacy boundaries.  This, 
combined with the challenges of ageing operating 
systems, an on-going reduction in activity levels and the 
current financial climate within which we must operate 
led us to review how we deliver a command and control 
function.  

The Command and Control Futures programme, which 
is designed to deliver a modern, resilient and scalable 
command and control communications system operating 
from three modern facilities, is making good progress.
 
Following the completion of the East regional Operations 
Control process earlier this year, we now have two 
completed and fully functional regional Operations 
Controls.  The other, the West regional Operations 
Control at Johnstone, became fully functional in 
November 2014. The final phase of the regionalisation 
programme is now focused on the North Service Delivery 
Area.

Our financial management arrangements remain strong 
despite a very uncertain fiscal climate. The achievements 
outlined in the report have been delivered within the 
£280.5million budget assigned to the service, with an 
underspend of less than 0.1%. 

The financial statements include details of our income and 
expenditure, and assets and liabilities.  The Statement of 
Financial position as at 31 March 2016 shows a significant 
negative balance of £2.657billion due to the inclusion of 
liabilities related to defined benefit pension schemes as 
required by International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 
Employee Benefits.  

These liabilities will, however, fall due in future years 
and will be financed by grant funding from Scottish 
Government in the year they are paid.  Funding has been 
approved for financial year 2016/17 and there is no 
reason to believe that approval will not be granted in the 
future.



5 Working together for a safer Scotland

The Board sets the strategic direction for the Scottish Fire 
and Rescue Service (SFRS) through a three year Strategic 
Plan which is designed to meet the Scottish Government’s 
requirements as set out in the Fire and Rescue Framework 
for Scotland.  At the beginning of each financial year we 
produce an Annual Operating Plan to show how we will 
meet the priorities we set out within our Strategic Plan.  

At the end of each financial year we report on how we 
progressed through an Annual Review of Performance.  
This year’s Annual Operating Plan prioritised protecting 
Scotland’s communities, protecting and developing our 
workforce and building a fire and rescue service for the 
future.  This structure is used within this section to present 
our achievements.

Statement of performance and activities

Protecting Scotland’s communities

People living and working within Scotland’s communities 
trust the SFRS to protect them and to respond quickly 
when they need us most.  The move to a single service 
gave us the opportunity to establish the highest standards 
of service right across the country, and to fit our response 
to the particular risks each community faces. 

To aid us in strengthening our understanding of the 
risks communities face we are undertaking a national 
risk reduction project to establish where the highest 
risks for our communities lie so that we can target our 
resources more effectively in addressing them.  This led 
to experimenting with sharing data with other public 
services and in collaboration with the Building Safer 
Communities Programme, NHS National Shared Services 
and the Improvement Service to build holistic local risk 
profiles which in turn can be used to build a stronger 
profile for Scotland as a whole.   We will then be able 
to use this knowledge, with our partners, to design our 
prevention, protection and response so that we can make 
communities safer.

This year, we looked closely at the way we deliver our 
services to make sure people across Scotland have access 
to the right support for their area, informed by widespread 
local engagement.  We looked at the location and 
standard of our specialist resources – in other words, what 
we need to have in place to deal effectively with incidents 
other than fire.  We have now developed a three year plan 
to address the training, property and staffing arrangements 

for these resources which are critical in getting our 
response right.  We have established modern command 
and control centres for the West and East Service 
Delivery Areas, and our plans are on track to complete 
our third centre for the North in the coming year. We also 
developed a National Resilience Model.  This outlines our 
commitment to work and train collaboratively with our key 
partners to provide the best possible service, particularly 
in dealing with large scale emergencies. 

Prevention remains a constant focus for our service.  We 
are a key partner in the Scottish Government’s Building 
Safer Communities Programme, which aims to reduce 
injury and death from unintentional harm from a wide 
range of sources.  This year we developed a ‘Home 
Safety Visit’ model through our Home Safety Group so 
that danger from fire, falls, dementia and child safety 
could be addressed by any agency in one single visit to a 
household.  This development included building ways of 
sharing information.  We contributed to the partnership 
Road Safety Group in reviewing Scotland’s Road Safety 
Framework, which sets out to reduce casualties on 
Scotland’s roads, and a multi-agency Water Safety Group 
was established to look at improving safety around water.  

The Scottish Government’s Joint Improvement Team 
(JIT) is working to help promote safety among the 
most vulnerable in our communities through initiatives 
including telecare and telehealth to enable people to 
live independently for longer.  We have worked with 
JIT in support of this work and this year, a safety ‘app’ 
was developed and a ‘safety house’ constructed to 
deliver training to a range of partners on using interactive 
technology to enhance care for vulnerable people.  We 
have also contributed to major initiatives across Scotland 
relating to suicide prevention, dementia care and tackling 
domestic abuse. 

Protecting and developing our workforce  
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Protecting our workforce in a job that is inherently 
dangerous is of critical importance to us.  We have taken 
an innovative approach to preventing firefighter fatalities 
using research and experience from a wide range of 
sources.  The tragic incident at the Balmoral Bar in 2009, 
in which Firefighter Ewan Williamson lost his life, led us to 
put together a ‘Lessons Identified’ report in collaboration 
with our trade unions partners which closely reviewed the 
various operational policies and procedures that were in 
place at the time of, and following, the incident to identify 
a range of areas for improvement.  The Board will ensure 
these improvements are taken forward by a dedicated 
implementation group. 
 
To further our safety and wellbeing arrangements we 
revised our Health, Safety and Wellbeing (HSW) Policy and 
introduced a comprehensive audit programme and matrix of 
improvement plans.  We introduced revised firefighter fitness 
standards, brought our occupational health services in-house 
and are actively pursuing a Healthy Working Lives award.

Operational Intelligence is the process of collecting, 
storing, distributing and then accessing information about 
premises so that our crews know the risks they face when 
they are called to an incident.  This year we standardised 
the kind of information we collect and developed a new 
electronic platform to hold it. 

Training plays a crucial part in keeping our staff safe.  This 
year we standardised our training, introduced a Quality 
Management system, audited our training records and 
developed a suite of ‘Training Standard’ frameworks to 
ensure consistency across Scotland, paving the way for the 
creation of a new ‘Core Competence’ framework.

Delivery of our leadership programme throughout the year 
provided middle and senior managers with an improved 
understanding and awareness of the key skills they need 
to navigate the changing and challenging new public 
service landscape.  We trained around 700 staff to Incident 
Command level, held over 5,000 assessments on road 
traffic collision training and provided around 6,000 staff 
with breathing apparatus training.  We established new 
training facilities across Scotland and adapted our staffing 
structure to include nationally and locally based training 
teams.  
Our Workforce Plan is kept under review to provide close 

alignment between our workforce profile, our strategic 
direction, our service delivery needs and our longer 
term financial plans.  This year, we continued to progress 
resourced based crewing, completed promotional 
processes for managers at strategic, middle and 
supervisory management levels, confirmed the support 
staff structure and recruited to fill skills gaps identified for 
our service.  

We also progressed our Total Reward Framework to make 
sure that fair, transparent and consistent arrangements 
are in place for all of the people who work for us.  We 
worked with trade union partners to implement a pay and 
reward framework for support staff and we are in the early 
stages of harmonising terms and conditions for uniformed 
employees.  We use our Employee Partnership Forum 
comprising Trade Unions, senior management and Board 
members to jointly progress these key projects with good 
effect. 

Building a fire and rescue service for the future  

Work is on-going across the Service to shape our ideal 
organisational culture.  Following the Cultural Audit 
in 2014, which determined the type of culture we 
had against the type we wanted, a plan of action was 
created.  Good progress has been achieved on this and 
will be tested by conducting staff surveys in the coming 
months and years to evaluate our progress.  Our new 
Values framework, established from the work around our 
cultural audit, was launched this year.  After considerable 
engagement with staff and key partners, our values of 
Safety, Teamwork, Respect and Innovation will be firmly 
embedded to help create a cohesive culture which 
supports the delivery our strategic and operational 
aspirations.   

To develop the proposed future shape and role of the 
SFRS, a new Service Transformation team was established 
early in 2015.   The team looked at options for future 
Retained Duty Service (RDS) systems.  The team explored 
how we could improve our flexibility for attendance times, 
tailored recruitment and training processes, annual leave 
and contracts for this group of staff.  They also looked at 
how we can widen our reach and save lives out with our 
traditional areas of operation.  

Making ever better use of technology is an important 
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priority for us and our Digital Strategy is exploring 
how technology can be better utilised by us to build a 
resilient infrastructure that supports our ambition to be 
an innovative public service.  Such an ambition requires 
skilled specialist staff to bring the strategy to life.  We have 
faced significant recruitment and retention challenges 
this year among ICT staff, so in order to ensure we keep 
progressing we have rescheduled our work commitments 
to ensure that prioritised projects continue to make good 
progress.  

Despite these challenges, the necessary ICT was in place 
and on time to open our refurbished Control in Tollcross, 
Edinburgh which is a critical development in keeping 
communities across the East of Scotland safe.   ICT also 
worked to ensure 19 legacy HR and payrolls systems were 
successfully consolidated into one system and our wide 
and local area network infrastructure was improved further 
over the last year.

Ensuring we can make better use of the data available to 
us is an important part of our improvement journey.  To 
aid us in this we developed our use of Qlikview as a data 
analysis and reporting tool system in the past year. We 
undertook further work to enhance our data marketplace 
which acts as a vehicle in holding various types of data in 
once place where it can be more easily accessed, analysed 
and used to meet the needs of different data users across 
the Service.  

An analytical dashboard of statistics has been developed 

for Local Senior Officers to help them secure strong local 
scrutiny of performance and to be able to analyse and 
explore emerging performance trends at local levels.  
Such developments will continue over the course of the 
coming year to better support our Board members and the 
Strategic Leadership Team in this regard. 

Sustainability features heavily in our preparation to meet 
future challenges.  This includes preparing for the future (in 
terms of projects such as our Strategic Intent programme), 
embedding equality and human rights issues, connecting 
with our staff and communities and planning to meet our 
climate change responsibilities.  These areas are explored 
further in our Sustainability Report.
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Key challenges

The key challenges facing us and Scotland as a whole are 
summarised here, while a fuller description of the business 
risks we manage is contained within the Governance 
Statement section. 

Financial Austerity   

Scotland’s public spending challenge is substantial and 
significant pressure on spending will remain over the next 
few years.  While the Scottish Government has pledged 
to protect some services we acknowledge that we are 
not immune to spending restrictions.  There is no doubt 
that financial pressure will be a major test of our resilience 
going forward.  The duration and severity of future financial 
reductions are not yet fully clear but what we do know is 
that to protect and improve service delivery outcomes we 
will need to transform how we operate.  

A Long Term Financial Strategy is being developed to 
take account of the financial challenges facing the public 
sector, and explore the opportunities to work more 
collaboratively with our communities and partners and 
target resources where they are most needed. 

Public Service Reform   

The Scottish Government is driving forward with an 
ongoing programme of public service reform.  The Christie 
Commission report on the future delivery of public services 
is the foundation on which all future developments shall be 
based.  Public services are expected to collaborate more 
to deliver a person centred approach which contributes to 
improving people’s wellbeing and to help prevent social 
and economic problems that drive much of the demand 
for all public services.  A stronger direction for Community 
Empowerment, Health and Social Care and Community 
Justice has recently been introduced to reinforce this 
direction for reform.  

To realise the intended benefits of reform, public services 
will need to work closely and collaborate in order to 
successfully deliver shared outcomes.  This will include 
designing services which rely on the sharing of resources, 
which are delivered and targeted based on a joint 
understanding of risk.  We will work with our partners to 
realise these ambitions.  

We will also work better with our communities to 
empower people to get involved with us in order to voice 
how they want services designed and delivered to meet 
their future needs.

Social Issues   

The Scottish Government has stated that social and 
economic inequality has for too long been a persistent 
feature in the lives of too many people and communities 
across Scotland.  In areas of multiple deprivation 
communities experience poorer health, lower educational 
attainment, lower employment, more emergency hospital 
admissions and reduced safety.  Typically the Fire and 
Rescue Service is called out more often in these areas.  
This provides evidence that there is a close relationship 
between wider social and economic issues, fire related 
incidents and unintentional social and personal harm.  

The number of older people in Scotland is predicted 
to rise over the next few decades.  This will generate an 
increased demand on all public services as, for example, 
the number of older people susceptible to slips, trips or 
falls at home increases.  By 2037 we expect to see the 
over 65 age group rise significantly as a proportion of our 
population with many more people also living beyond the 
age of 84.  While people living longer lives is a positive 
indicator for Scotland, as people grow older they will 
require new forms of support to keep them safe from 
harm.  There is a risk that if public services do not adapt 
to meet these issues, vulnerabilities within communities 
could increase.  As we plan collective response and 
prevention activities with our partners in dealing with this, 
we are mindful that in some of the most deprived areas 
of Scotland healthy life expectancy is significantly lower 
than the national average.  Working with partners and with 
communities we will refocus our efforts in dealing with 
these issues.  

By developing co-ordinated local responses with our 
partners and communities, we will focus proactively on 
prevention as well as high quality response measures that 
will help address these types of inequalities and improve a 
wider range of social outcomes.  
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Climate Change   

The climate has changed over the past few years with 
most areas experiencing a marked rise in extreme and 
unpredictable weather conditions.  Severe storms, 
wide spread flooding, significant snow fall and major 
temperature fluctuations can have a devastating impact 
on peoples’ lives and livelihoods.  Dry spells may be 
welcomed after long wet winters, however if these 
become prolonged Scotland’s vast grass and heath 
moorland are at a much greater risk of wildfire.  By 
understanding the greatest risks and vulnerabilities arising 
from climate change we will plan, prepare and deploy our 
prevention and response resources to enable swift and 
effective actions where and when they are needed across 
Scotland. 

International terrorism   

In the modern world many countries experience the threat 
of terrorist violence.  As we have seen in the recent past 
Scotland is not immune from such threats.  In working with 
our partners across the UK and Scotland we will develop a 
better understanding of the nature of the threat Scotland 
faces so that we are prepared to respond appropriately. 
We will continue ongoing dialogue with the Scottish 
Government to establish what they see as our role in this 
area in order to ensure that we have the right capacity, 
are properly prepared and ready to act should any such 
incident occur.  
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 RAG Target 2015/16 2014/15

  961 1,035 874

  2,152 2,367 2,168

  4,419 5,067 4,961

  2,317 2,494 2,324

  52 40 48

The SFRS operates in a highly complex environment in responding to emergency situations as well as driving forward with 
prevention activities.  This makes partnership working with other public bodies and citizens a core element in how we work.  
It also means that some of the factors that affect our performance are beyond our direct control.  Below we report on key 
performance indicators and targets which form the core of the current Fire and Rescue Framework. A more qualitative view 
of our performance overall is provided in the Strategic Report section, where you will find examples of our core activities 
and the work we are doing to make a difference for our communities.

Each function of our Service has its own individual strategies and plans which are reported on using more detailed 
indicators.  This year we have launched a data marketplace which enables drill-down analysis of our figures at all levels 
within the service, enabling significantly stronger scrutiny.  
 
We assess each of the targets that follow using a simple Red, Amber or Green indication of our performance. Green means 
we have achieved or exceeded the target; Amber means we did not achieve the target but we are within 10% of what was 
set; and Red means we have not achieved the target and are more than 10% above or below what was set. 

Our performance results this year are somewhat mixed. Although the fire casualties target has not been achieved, the total 
of 1035 is the second-lowest in recent years. For accidental dwelling fires, an analysis of fire severity for Scotland using the 
results of the Cheshire Index of Dwelling Fire Severity shows that, in the main, increases in accidental dwelling fires in the 
past two years have been in those of low severity, whilst fires of medium and high severity have continued to decline.  Below 
is a summary table of our performance for this year and following that we provide some detailed analysis for each indicator.

Performace Indicator

1. Reducing fire fatalities and casualties by 5% a year

2. Reducing special services casualties

3. Reducing accidental dwelling fires by 10% each year

4. Reducing the number of non-domestic fires

5. Reducing firefighter injuries

Performance Summary

Please note that the data for 2015/16 supplied in this document is provisional.  

Verified data will be published in due course.
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        Target

Year  Fatalities Casualties1 Total Estimated Casualty Casualty Total RAG
    Casualties Population2 Rate3 Rate Casualties

 2012-13 to Q4 46 1,002 1,048 5,299,900 197.7

 2013-14 to Q4 31 1,074 1,105 5,313,600 208.0

 2014-15 to Q4 41 833 874 5,327,700 164.0

 2015-16 to Q4 46 989 1,035 5,327,700 194.3 180.4 961 

target 1: Reducing fire fatalities and casualties by 5% a year

Target explained:
We record anyone involved in an incident who should be seen by medical staff, rather than having a simple 
precautionary check-up, as a casualty. The number of ‘slight’ casualties is seven times greater than the number of 
serious injuries recorded, with the majority being overcome by gas, smoke or toxic fumes.  A reduction can mean our 
prevention work is reducing the number of high risk fires through community fire safety (CFS) activity, or can show that 
our intervention saves lives at incidents. 

AMBER

Performance explained:
The total number of fire casualties to the end of the year 2015-16 is 1,035, 2.3% more than the three year average.  As 
the actual rate is within 10% of the target rate of 961 we classify this target as Amber.

The general increase in fire fatalities and casualties over the past year has to be seen in the context of the impacts of 
health and social care issues in Scotland. The rate at which persons over the age of 60 are injured in fires in the home 
has increased over time, reflecting demographic changes and an increasingly aging population. We have also seen an 
increase in the number of fatalities resulting from deliberately set fires. One area that is causing us some concern, as it 
is other fire and rescue services across the UK, is a recent increase in the number of people choosing to commit suicide 
by using fire.  As a form of suicide the use of fire is much less common than other methods, so it is difficult to know or 
understand why we have experienced a spike in such suicides and attempted suicides recently. 

Performance Statistics

Table 1 - All Fire Casualties

Notes:
1. Excludes precautionary checkups        2. Source: General Registry Office of Scotland/Scottish Government         3. Per million population

Actual

% change from 3 year average: 2.3%

rates used to compute 

estimated target rate 

and value
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Some things we are doing to improve our performance

Week of Action
There was a sharp increase in fire fatalities in late spring of 2015, prompting an urgent conference to identify trends and 
common factors. This resulted in a ‘Week of Action’ across Scotland to drive down fire casualties and fatalities.  Each 
local area designed their outreach to fit their community’s needs to prevent the house fires which are often behind these 
statistics.  

Reaching the right people is only possible through close partnerships with Social Work, Housing, the NHS and 
specialist third sector groups, all of whom were involved in making the Week of Action a success.  Our activity focussed 
on vulnerable groups such as older people, particularly those in sheltered housing or retirement homes. We drew 
attention to common risks such as cooking and smoking, and installed additional smoke detectors in bedrooms, for 
example. Where elderly people live alone, neighbours were asked to look out for them and told what to look out for.  

Accidental fires in sheltered housing fell by 18% and fire casualty figures fell by 10% in the weeks following the initiative 
compared with the previous year’s figures, suggesting the week had been a success and provided a valuable template 
for our future preventative work. 

Suicide Prevention
In support of the Scottish Government’s ‘Suicide Prevention Strategy’, we engaged with the Scottish Suicide 
Prevention, Monitoring and Implementation Group, and we are exploring opportunities to contribute to the mental 
health agenda in other ways. A number of Local Senior Officer (LSO) Areas are working on local suicide prevention 
activities. These will be evaluated over the coming months and potentially implemented across the service. 

Home Fire Safety Visit Programme
SFRS continues to deliver the Home Fire Safety Visit (HFSV) programme within all communities in Scotland, which 
involves the provision of a free advisory visit to any household requesting one and the fitting of a free smoke alarm. 
We also tailor solutions to suit each household, such as heat detection units in some high risk homes. We aim to target 
HFSVs towards those who need it most. This year we worked with a range of partners including Dementia Scotland, 
mental health practitioners, occupational therapists and drug and alcohol partnerships. These links are vital in giving us 
access to the most vulnerable people within our communities. 
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target 2: Reducing special services casualties

Target explained:
SFRS attends an ever expanding range of incidents.  This particular target covers special services, in other words:
 
• Road traffic collisions (RTC)
• Flooding
• Rescue from water
• Other rescues

Preventing many of these incidents is outside our direct control, although we work with partners to try to reduce their 
frequency wherever we can.  How effectively we respond is important, as these categories represent a significant 
proportion of incidents where life is at risk. We employ a wide range of skills to minimise the number of casualties 
resulting from these incidents, where a casualty is someone who should be seen by medically trained staff rather than 
undergoing a simple precautionary check. 

AMBER

Performance explained:
The total number of special service casualties recorded to the end of the year 2015-16, 2,367, is slightly higher than 
the totals for the previous 3 years.  As the actual rate is within 10% of the target rate of 2,152 we classify this target as 
Amber.

Of the special services incidents listed, attendances at RTCs dominate the statistics. As there are a large number of 
RTCs attended, and RTCs frequently result in casualties or fatalities, it is increases or decreases in RTC casualties and 
fatalities which are the primary influence on this target.

Performance Statistics

Table 2 - Special Service Casualties

        Target

Year  Fatalities Casualties1 Total Estimated Casualty Casualty Total RAG
    Casualties Population2 Rate3 Rate Casualties

 2012-13 to Q4 128 1,994 2,122 5,299,900 400.4

 2013-14 to Q4 152 2,063 2,215 5,313,600 416.9

 2014-15 to Q4 131 2,037 2,168 5,327,700 406.9

 2015-16 to Q4 127 2,240 2,367 5,327,700 444.3 404.0 2,152 

Notes:
1. Excludes precautionary checkups        2. Source: General Registry Office of Scotland/Scottish Government         3. Per million population

Actual

% change from 3 year average: 8.9%

rates used to compute 

estimated target rate 

and value
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Some things we are doing to improve our performance

Perth & Kinross, Angus and Dundee: Safe Drive Stay Alive
The Safe Drive Stay Alive road safety event was held across Dundee, Angus, Perth and Kinross during November. This 
multi-agency road safety event is aimed at school pupils who may be about to learn to drive.  It was presented to around 
4,000 pupils to raise awareness about the importance of road safety as a driver and a passenger.

Dumfries and Galloway: Campaign for Water Safety
Local figures showed that water rescues were becoming more common in the area, so a campaign was launched to 
make sure children and young people understand how to stay safe around water. We worked with the local Education 
Authority to design a training package so that teachers across the area could deliver the right lifesaving information 
to pupils in 102 primary schools and 18 secondary schools in Dumfries and Galloway.  Feedback was overwhelmingly 
positive, so this training will be added to our annual ‘Operation Safety’ initiative, a three week multi-agency event held 
each year for around 1,600 Primary 7 pupils.  

Fife: Water Safety Education
We worked with Police Scotland, Royal National Lifeboat Institution and the Royal Life Saving Society to produce 
resources for primary and secondary schools awareness raising for four weeks on a local beach including 
demonstrations from RNLI and SFRS on water rescues.  Given the success of this initiative, the Scottish Water Safety 
Group is now extending this programme to other areas of Scotland.
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target 3: Reducing accidental dwelling fires by 10% each year

Target explained:
The consequences of a dwelling fire can be devastating, so Scottish Government have set this as our most challenging 
target at a 10% reduction on the previous three year average.  This is particularly difficult at a time of austerity, as 
previous economic downturns have been linked to increases in the number of house fires.  The changes in behaviour 
required to reduce house fire numbers tend to be long term.  It is important that we make every effort to educate 
people today, and put early warning systems in place for the vulnerable, to keep our communities safer in future.  

RED

Performance explained:
The total number of accidental dwelling fires to the end of the year 2015-16 is 5,071, 3.3% more than the three year 
average.  As the actual rate is more than 10% above the target rate of 4,419 we classify this target as Red.

When counting accidental dwelling fires we do not distinguish between low-severity fires (such as those where, for 
example, a grill-pan was already extinguished on arrival, and no firefighting actions were necessary) and those which 
led to severe damage or loss of life. To allow us to better understand the severity of the incidents we attend we have 
started analysing accidental fire data through the Cheshire Fire Severity Index for Accidental Dwelling Fires, a model 
of fire severity developed by Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service.  Using the Cheshire model an initial trend analysis of 
accidental dwelling fire severity for Scotland shows that, in the main, increases in accidental dwelling fires in the past 
two years have been in those of low severity, whilst fires of medium and high severity have continued to decline.

Notes:
1. Source: General Registry Office of Scotland/Scottish Government         
2. Household estimate for 2015-16 will be replaced when mid-year estimate becomes available      3. Accidental Dwelling Fires (ADFs) per 1,000 households

Actual

% change from 3 year average: 3.3%

rates used to compute 

estimated target rate 

and value

Performance Statistics

Table 3 - Accidental Dwelling Fires (ADFs)

        Target

 Year   Total Estimated ADF ADF ADF RAG
    Incidents Households 1,2 Rate3 Rate Totals

 2012-13 to Q4   5,004 2,376,422 2.11

 2013-14 to Q4   4,684 2,387,206 1.96

 2014-15 to Q4   4,961 2,401,798 2.07

 2015-16 to Q4   5,071 2,401,798 2.11 1.84 4,419 
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Some things we are doing to improve our performance

Glasgow: Cook Safe 
The ‘Cook Safe’ project, designed in partnership with Gorbals Healthy Living (GHL, now renamed as Sparcs) aims to 
tackle the dangers of fire in the home whilst educating participants to eat more healthily and to avoid using chip pans 
full of hot oil. These are still in widespread use in some parts of the country.  

Sparcs supplies community cooks who provide hands-on cooking sessions and discuss the benefits of a healthy diet 
with all of the programme participants, supported by our staff who deliver a dramatic Chip Pan Fire Demonstration and 
talk through other fire risks such as smoking and alcohol.   This initiative is designed to support groups of people most 
at risk including elderly people, people with mental health support needs, individuals with addiction issues and youths 
aged 17 who have been provided with their first property as part of Supported Independent Living. Audiences can 
range from 10 to 100 people at any one session.

Some of the benefits include giving young carers the confidence to cook for members of their family. This experience 
helps them to overcome their fear of accidentally causing a fire in the home. It has also been delivered for a number of 
homeless hostels whose members were causing unwanted fire alarms, and as a result the false alarms have decreased. 

Dundee: tailoring Education to fit Community needs
13% of incidents we attend across the Dundee area are serious fires, and almost half of these are home fires.  Figures 
have reduced over the past five years, but they still pose the greatest threat to life.  To drive these numbers down further, 
we worked with Police Scotland and Dundee City Council to put together a ‘pick and mix’ list of the things vulnerable 
people need to know about personal safety, hate crime, bogus callers, using technology and fire and home safety. We 
designed our information to suit the learning preference of each group so that they could easily understand and apply 
what we suggested. We targeted elderly people and adults with learning difficulties who had supported care at home, 
but this effective approach could potentially be used to connect with other hard to reach groups. 

East Lothian: Lone Occupancy Initiative 
Isolated people often find it difficult to access services and may be unaware of support available for them within their 
community. Living in rural areas can make this worse, with services and opportunities limited in comparison to those we 
find in towns and cities.  East Lothian is a largely rural area with a significant elderly population.  Nearly 17.5% (16,000) of 
the local population are living alone or are lone adults with children in their care.  These adults are more likely than those 
in other households to be at risk from fire.  

Through a data sharing agreement with East Lothian Council, we were able to target our prevention activity directly at 
those who are most at risk for a pilot project across seven council wards.  We arranged Home Fire Safety Visits, leaflet 
drops and fire safety talks in and around areas with a high concentration of lone occupancy.  There are now plans to 
extend this initiative across another five areas.  

Edinburgh: Partnership Fund
Edinburgh Council, NHS Lothian and local neighbourhood groups have joined us to form the Edinburgh Partnership 
Fund.  Information is shared between partners to target the right help to vulnerable adults, so that tailored solutions are 
provided to suit their circumstances and make them safer.  

The partnership can provide a range of equipment such as fire retardant bedding, extension leads, carbon monoxide 
detectors, thermostatically controlled deep fat fryers, anti-arson letterboxes, telecare systems and, on a case by case 
basis, sprinkler systems suited to high risk individuals.  We also provide training for partnership colleagues so that 
they can recognise fire risks and ensure rapid support is provided through our Community Action Teams.  We hope 
to involve a wider range of third sector partners in future projects so that the right technologies reach the people who 
need it most.
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target 4: Reducing the number of non-domestic fires

Target explained:
Non-domestic fires tend to involve business premises, so ensuring businesses are better protected and can continue to 
contribute to the Scottish economy is a key priority for us.  The proportion of buildings which experience a fire, coupled 
with the average fire size, give an indication of whether our fire safety and enforcement activity is actually reducing the 
number of fires and restricting fire growth. 

AMBER

Performance explained:
The total number of building fires in non-domestic premises to the end of the year 2015-16 is 2,494, 6.6% more than 
the three year average.  As the actual rate is within 10% of the target rate of 2,317 we classify this target as Amber.
Analysis of this increase does not highlight any particular causal factors driving the trend.  Figures will continue to be 
closely monitored over the coming months and years to draw out any relevant intelligence.  

        Target

 Year   Total Estimated NDBF NDBF NDBF RAG
    Incidents Buildings1 Rate2 Rate Totals

 2012-13 to Q4   2,408 143,822 16.86

 2013-14 to Q4   2,350 141,822 16.57

 2014-15 to Q4   2,324 140,500 16.54

 2015-16 to Q4   2,494 140,500 17.75 16.49 2,317 

Notes:
1. Source: Estimated from earlier data   2. Non-Domestic Building Fires (NDBFs) per 1,000 buildings

Actual

% change from 3 year average: 6.6%

rates used to compute 

estimated target rate 

and value

Performance Statistics
The table below shows the totals to the end of the last four financial years for incidents recorded as non-domestic 
building fires on the IRS.

Table 4 - Non-Domestic Building Fires (NDBFs)



20Annual Report and Accounts 2015-2016

Some things we are doing to improve our performance

Auditing of Non-Domestic Premises
SFRS is focussed on the protection of life in non-domestic premises. Sleeping risks including Care Homes, Hospitals, 
Hotels, Hostels, Houses in Multiple Occupation, for example, have been targeted to ensure high and very high risk 
premises have been audited to ensure critical levels of fire safety compliance are met.  

Other businesses have been the focus of post fire activity regardless of the size of the incident attended by the Service. 
Every contact is deemed important, with the opportunity taken to promote fire safety awareness to duty holders whilst 
benchmarking compliance of the premises against its specific sector of business. This initiative is being applied across 
the whole of Scotland and statistics and trends gained from activity will determine future initiatives and thematic audits.

South of Scotland: Rural Safety Pilot 
There has been an increase in farm fires in Scotland, with 635 primary fires involving farm buildings and nearly 2,800 
secondary fires between 2013 and 2015. In response to this SFRS has been working with the National Farmers Union 
(NFU) to develop a rural risk survey to encourage their members to take precautions to protect their farms. The initiative, 
which will initially be rolled out in the South Lanarkshire and Dumfries and Galloway regions, could help protect farms 
and firefighters in the event of fire and assist in restricting any damage.

Farmers are encouraged to fill out a ‘rural risk form’ with basic details, after which they are contacted by SFRS who 
arrange to visit and map out a plan of the farm. This helps firefighters assess any risks.  For example, it tells them where 
livestock are likely to be and identifies the locations of dangerous substances such as slurry and chemicals.  This initiative 
aims to extend the practices we have successfully used to prevent and tackle fires in the home and in more conventional 
workplaces so that we have the same high standard of protection for farms.

British Agrochemical Standards 
The Service helped to create consistent national agrochemical standards by producing a National Guidance Procedure.  
This replaces regional procedures applied to Scottish premises registered with the British Agrochemical Standards 
Inspection Scheme (BASIS). This includes application of the Code of Practice for Suppliers of Pesticides to Agriculture, 
and of the Horticulture and Forestry and Control of Pesticide Regulations 1986. 

Enforcement Officers and operational crews ensure that information provided by BASIS, in relation to each risk, is 
acted on swiftly so that all aspects of the guidance are met. We have established a central contact point to collate and 
distribute information on premises for action. This means we will have a better informed response should an incident 
occur.  It also means fire safety breaches will be reduced and will encourage fire safety law compliance.

Perth and Kinross: Care Initiative
SFRS supported an engagement event hosted by the Scottish Care Home Association and attended by duty holders 
from across Perth and Kinross, Angus and Dundee to discuss their responsibilities around fire prevention, fire safety and 
preventing unwanted fire alarm signals.  This also gave them the chance to get advice direct from the Service.  

We discussed how we communicate and developed an understanding of each other’s roles to give us an improved 
working relationship. Duty holders were given points of contact in case they had difficulty in understanding their 
legislative duties. Representatives from organisations who attended the original event now meet regularly so that we 
can make compliance as simple and accessible for them as possible, and collect feedback on further support we might 
be able to offer the sector to better protect vulnerable people in care.



21 Working together for a safer Scotland

target 5: Reducing firefighter injuries

Target explained:
Firefighter safety has always been one of our key priorities and will remain so in the years to come. The injuries recorded 
here are those described by the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995 
(RIDDOR). 

GREEN

Performance explained:
The number of RIDDOR-reportable injuries to operational staff recorded to the end of the year 2015-16 is 40, 24.1% 
less than the three year average.  As the rate of RIDDOR-reportable injuries is lower than the target of 52 we classify this 
indicator as Green.

Our health, safety and wellbeing policies, procedures and audit programme, firefighter fitness standards, operational 
intelligence and research into improved firefighter safety all contribute to achieving success against this target.

Performance Statistics

        Target

 Year   Total Staff Injury Injury Injury RAG
    Incidents Headcount1,2 Rate3 Rate Totals

 2012-13 to Q4   67 7,644 8.77

 2013-14 to Q4   48 7,302 6.57

 2014-15 to Q4   48 7,184 6.68

 2015-16 to Q4   40 7,184 5.57 7.27 52 

Notes:
1. Source: Scottish Government/SFRS         2. The headcount total for 2014-15 is provisional         3. Injury rate per 1,000 staff

Actual

% change from 3 year average: -24.1%

rates used to compute 

estimated target rate 

and value

Table 5 - RIDDOR Reportable Injuries

Some things we are doing to improve our performance

Preventing Injuries
A single SFRS event reporting and investigation manual has been in place since November 2015. Robust event 
investigation remains a priority for SFRS as it is crucial to learning lessons and enhancing Firefighter safety.  The manual 
is supported by an SFRS electronic health and safety management system which was subject to a review in April 2016 in 
order to expedite the reporting process and enhance the associated performance reporting functionality. An associated 
training programme has been developed to ensure appropriate staff are competent in event investigation techniques.  
National and Sub National Health and Safety Committees are provided with quarterly health and safety performance 
reports, the content of which is scrutinised at each meeting.   
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In this section we consider our societal, environmental 
and economic impact. Scottish Government defines the 
goal of sustainable development as enabling all people 
throughout the world to satisfy their basic needs and enjoy 
a better quality of life without compromising the quality 
of life of future generations. Sustainable development is 
integral to the Scottish Government’s overall purpose - to 
focus government and public services on creating a more 
successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to 
flourish, through increasing sustainable economic growth.

Equality and Human Rights   

With inequality at the root of many of our country’s 
complex problems, our aim is to lead the way in building 
equality into our culture.  Mainstreaming (in other 
words, embedding equality across everything we do) 
continues to be a focus for us this year.  Our new Equality 
and Diversity Charter and Strategic Framework for 
Mainstreaming Equality established the foundations for 
successful mainstreaming longer term.  

Equality specialists have supported colleagues and project 
groups across the Service to make sure equality and 
human rights considerations are written into policy and 
practice. The main tool to achieve this was our Equality 
and Human Rights Impact Assessment process. We used 
this to analyse all our major plans and policies, but in some 
cases we built equality into the heart of a document well in 
advance of this stage, for example our Code of Conduct. 

Skills and capacity have been developed across the 
workforce through a programme of Mainstreaming 
Equality Training.  This will be supported by further 
programmes of training on impact assessments, corporate 
parenting, unconscious bias and professional behaviours 
and equality.

Key projects under development include Corporate 
Parenting, implementing our Gaelic Language Plan and 
addressing our workforce profile.  We are also working 
with other employers on a project to encourage the 
disclosure of protected characteristics by our staff.  

Sustainability Report

Diversity and Sustainability    

The SFRS continues to recognise that for a true 
understanding of our community, our workforce should 
reflect the profile of that community. This means, 
for example, that we need to attract more women, 
members of the BME community and members of the 
LGBTI community into our organisation, particularly in 
operational roles. We recognise that we need to reach out 
further to young people by engaging in youth initiatives 
and creating employment opportunities through our 
apprenticeship schemes. 

Equality for our staff    

In 2015/16 we completed our review of pay and 
reward for support staff and reached agreement with 
the recognised trade unions on a single pay and reward 
framework for this staff group.  Prior to this there was no 
consistent model of pay and grading for support staff 
across antecedent services and there were variations 
in pay for jobs of a similar nature.  We embarked on an 
intense implementation plan which saw the introduction of 
a job design and evaluation process, the implementation 
of a new pay structure and the introduction of a suite of 
core terms and conditions.  This resulted in new contracts 
of employment being issued to all our support staff.

Ambitions for the coming year include collective 
bargaining discussions to revise terms and conditions 
for uniformed staff, introducing a succession planning 
framework and designing youth employment initiatives to 
support our forthcoming Strategic Plan.
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                                                                            Gender
 
   Male  Female  Male  Female
 
Wholetime  3,282 3,131 151  95.40% 4.60%
 
Day Duty 244 227 17  93.03%  6.97%
 
Flexi Duty 264 258 6  97.73%  2.27%
 
Control 208 34 174  16.35%  83.65%
 
RDS  2,913 2,745 168  94.23%  5.77%

Volunteer 310 248 62 80.00% 20.00%

Support 844 382 462 45.26% 54.74%
 
total  8,065 7,025 1,040  87.10%  12.90%

Workforce Profile 
As at 1 April 2016, 12.90% of our staff overall and 5.76% 
of our staff in operational (Wholetime, Day Duty, Flexi 
Duty, Retained and Volunteer) roles are women.  Two of 
our twelve Board Members and two of our eight Strategic 
Leadership Team are women.  We have 72 employees 
paid at Senior Manager rate, 4 of whom are women.  
A pilot mentoring scheme for women is in progress within 
the organisation with the aim of supporting development 
and seeking to attract more women to consider promotion 
to middle and senior management roles as these arise. 

The Board recognise that we have more to do to balance 
both our workforce and the Board itself in terms of 
gender.  As a result it has adopted a proactive approach 
to succession planning, with plans in place to address 
skills and diversity requirements for the medium and long 
term.  The performance of Board members is regularly 
evaluated to strike a balance between continuity and 
renewal.  Positive action is underway to support Scottish 
Ministers’ ambition for a 50:50 Board gender profile by 
2020.  The Deputy Chair leads on behalf of the Board the 
development of this long term strategy to achieve gender 
balance and reach a diverse pool of potential Board 
members for the future. 
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Economic Sustainability    

Economic sustainability is influenced by our ability to 
recruit, develop and retain the best people from across 
our communities.  Support staff structures are now 
approved and we are actively filling vacancies from 
internal - and then external - advertising which is providing 
employment opportunities for a range of people. 

Providing a living wage is a key element of ensuring 
the economic sustainability of financially deprived 
communities and families. The Scottish Living Wage 
Accreditation Initiative is administered in Scotland by 
The Poverty Alliance working in partnership with the 
Living Wage Foundation, and is funded by the Scottish 
Government. The accreditation gives employers 
recognition for paying their employees a ‘fair and decent’ 
pay. The new Support Staff Pay and Reward Framework 
was based on ensuring the Scottish Living Wage was 
applied to our staff.

With the foundations now in place, SFRS will take steps to 
join the 500 plus employers in Scotland now accredited as 
Scottish Living Wage employers.

The Scottish Government has identified the prospects 
and life chances of young people as a particular concern, 
and we as a service mean to ensure that they see us as 
a preferred prospective employer.  We play our part 
towards improving these in a number of ways.  We 
maintain links with schools’ careers advice services and 
attend recruitment fairs, and use our close links with 
schools help to promote the role of a firefighter as an 
aspiration for the children involved. 

We encourage the next generation of professionals.  For 
example, during the 2015/16 first semester students 
studying HR carried out work placements with us.  This 
allowed us to engage with universities to develop 
students, raise the organisation’s profile as an employer of 
choice and benefit from the contribution of these young 
people as they set out on their careers. In 2016/17 we will 
further consider a range of schemes and actions to target 
young people and underrepresented groups to join the 
SFRS with a view to building these into our Workforce and 
Strategic Resourcing plans.

We have had initial discussions with Investors in People 
around the Investors in Young People programme and we 
are at the early stages of exploring a range of initiatives 
with Young Scot to promote careers within our Service. 
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Climate Change and Environmental 
Sustainability     

This report records and analyses SFRS environmental 
sustainability performance for the 2015/16 financial year. 

This report is also presented in line with the Scottish 
Government’s Guidance on the preparation of Annual 
Sustainability Reports 2012/13, which focusses on the 
following key areas: 

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions
• Energy Use
• Waste Management
• Water Use 
• Climate Change Adaptation
• Biodiversity
• Sustainable Procurement

Our Service maintains its pledge to being an 
environmentally conscious and accountable organisation 
in order to support the Scottish Government’s obligation 
to increase sustainable economic growth through a 
low carbon economy. This commitment is embodied 
within the SFRS Environmental Policy Statement and 
Environmental Strategy 2014/17, launched in December 
2014. 

We will:

• Ensure legislative compliance in all statutory duties and  
 compliance with all other legal requirements; 
• Promote the benefits of community safety in  
 preventing incidents occurring and the associated  
 environmental impacts of doing so; 
• Increase awareness of environmental responsibilities  
 amongst Service staff, contractors and key partners; 
• Prevent where possible the pollution of, air, land and  
 water from our activities; 
• Mitigate the Service’s impact on climate change and  
 take steps to adapt to the impacts of a changing  
 climate; 
• Minimise wherever possible the impact on Scotland’s  
 natural habitat from our activities; 
• Improve our resource efficiency by reducing energy,  
 fuel and water consumption and the subsequent CO2  
 emissions;

• Through our corporate procurement strategy, minimise  
 the environmental impact and carbon footprint of the  
 goods, works and services it buys and uses; 
• Reduce to minimum practical levels our use of  
 environmentally damaging substances, materials and  
 processes; and 
• Minimise unnecessary waste in our operations and  
 utilise all reasonable recycling options.

In order to meet the key policy points stated above, we will 
continue to develop and utilise our Carbon Management 
Plan (CMP).  The CMP states our Service’s strategy, aims 
and objectives for reducing its greenhouse gas emissions.  
The CMP contains a register of potential projects 
to be implemented in order to reduce the Service’s 
environmental impact, and greenhouse gas emissions. 

We are also progressing towards an Environmental 
Management System (EMS) which will be certified to BS 
EN ISO 14001.  The EMS will provide key procedures that 
influence our day-to-day functions and decision making, in 
order to prevent and reduce any potential environmental 
impact as a result of our internal activities.  This will support 
improvement with environmental performance and 
awareness across the Service.  The operation of the EMS 
will be dependent on every employee’s participation so 
that it can reach its maximum potential.  It will establish 
key monitoring tools throughout our Service and ensure 
that personnel are fully aware of enforced environmental 
legislation.  

Key metrics are listed on the first column below followed 
by Performance for the 2014-15 and 2015-16 financial 
years.  The final column indicates if an increase (+) or 
decrease (-) has been the outcome when comparing both 
Performance columns:
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Metric

total Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions 
(from buildings and fleet)

total Energy consumption of buildings 
(gas, electricity, Fuel Oil and LPG)

total Energy consumption of buildings 
(gas, electricity, Fuel Oil and LPG)

total energy expenditure 
(gas, electricity, Fuel Oil and LPG)

total CRC related expenditure

total waste
(Controlled and Special Waste)

Recycling Rate 
(excluding special waste)

Waste disposed to Landfill

total waste expenditure
(Controlled and Special Waste)

total water GHG emissions

total water consumption

total water expenditure

total fleet travel GHG emissions

total fleet expenditure

total business travel GHG emissions

total business travel expenditure

Performance 
2014-15

24,836 tCO2e

56,610,559 kWh

17,894 tCO2e

£4,318,149

Not applicable 
until Phase 3

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

£297,262

178 tCO2e

162,263m3

£841,158.02

6,764 tCO2e

£3,009,422

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Percentage + / -

-10%

+1.9%

-5.9%

-0.3%

Not applicable 
until Phase 3

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

-8.6%

-21.9%

-15.4

-5.6%

-20.3%

-14.7%

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Performance 
2015-16

22,361 tCO2e

57,680,009 kWh

16,832 tCO2e

£4,305,891

Not applicable 
until Phase 3

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

£271,727

139 tCO2e

137,220m3

£794,428

5,390 tCO2e

£2,567,573

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

kWh = kilowatt hour (a measure of energy)
tCO2e = tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
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Summary of Performance    

The consolidation of service contracts remains our primary 
aim in 2015/16.  As of 2014/15 financial year we had 
contracted the support of a bureau service.  This has 
proved to be invaluable in relation to data gathering and 
monitoring of our utilities (electricity, gas and water).  The 
procurement of a bureau service has also enabled each 
SFRS site to access their own location’s energy and water 
consumption for monitoring purposes, whether this is 
the Service’s Headquarters in Cambuslang or remote 
buildings such as John O’ Groats Fire Station.  This 
provides the functionality for stations to take accountability 
for their site’s energy and water consumption and so 
enhance our organisation’s awareness of our daily use of 
these finite resources.

The implementation of an Environmental Management 
System (EMS) within our Service should further reduce 
energy and water consumption in terms of behavioural 
change by further enhancing our organisation’s awareness 
through education and training. 

Boundary
SFRS has continued to increase its reporting boundary 
from 2014/15 through the assistance of the contracted 
Bureau Service:

• Electricity supply points  421
• Gas supply points  151
• Water supply points   658
• LPG supply points  1
• Gas Oil / Kerosene supply points  8 

 The new reporting boundary for 2015/16 is as follows:

• Electricity supply points  429  (+8)
• Gas supply points  153 (+2)
• Water supply points  671 (+13)
• LPG supply points  1 (no change)
• Gas Oil / Kerosene supply points   8 (no change)

The following environmental impacts (metrics) have been 
excluded due to the unavailability of data:

•  Leased Sites Data (electricity, gas, water and waste) 
• Total Waste (Controlled and Special Waste)
• Waste Disposed to Landfill
• Recycling Rate (excluding Special Waste) 
• Construction Waste 
• Business Travel 
• Private Borehole Water Consumption
• Paper Consumption

We aim to implement systems to capture the data gaps for 
these metrics.
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Metric Performance 
2014-15

24,658

6,429

275

6,764

11,190

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

178

Percentage + / -

-10.0%

+0.1

-25.5%

-20.3%

-8.9%

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

-21.9%

Gross emissions 
(tCO2e)

Scope 1 
emissions

Scope 2 
emissions

Scope 3 
emissions

Total under scopes 
1 – 3 (excluding water)

Gas

Other fuels for buildings

Road fleet

Electricity 

Business Travel

Total Waste (controlled 
and special waste)

Water supplied and 
disposed

Performance 
2015-16

22,361

6,432

205

5,390

10,195

Figures unavailable 
at this time

Figures unavailable 
at this time

139

Our carbon baseline year was established in 2013/14 
as this was the financial year when the single SFRS was 
formed.  Our Service’s carbon footprint for this period was 
measured at 24,759 tCO2e emissions. 

Our carbon footprint for the 2015/16 financial year was 
calculated at 22,361 tonnes (tCO2e).  This is 10.0% lower 
than the carbon footprint for the 2014/15 financial year 
(24,658 tCO2e). 

Substantial carbon emission reductions have been 
achieved for Other Fuels and Buildings (-25.5%), Road 
Fleet (-20.3%) and Water (-21.9%) consumption for the 
2015/16 financial year.  A reduction in Electricity (-8.9%) 
was also achieved , however, there was a slight increase in 
Gas (+0.1) consumption for 2015/16 in comparison to the 
2014/15 financial year.

From the recordable data within scope 1, 2 and 3 
emissions, Electricity (10,195 tCO2e) consumption remains 
our principal carbon emission impact followed by Gas 
consumption (6,432 tCO2e) and then Road Fleet (5,390 
tCO2e).  However, substantial reductions have been 
achieved for 2015/16 in comparison to 2014/15 financial 
year.  

A comparison of our 2015/16 performance data to 
2014/2015 indicates that we are moving in the right 
direction with regards to reducing our carbon emissions 
impact on the environment.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions



30Annual Report and Accounts 2015-2016

Actions for 2016/17

• Implement an Environmental Management System in  
 order to reduce estate energy and water consumption
• Regional Property Managers are to consider energy  
 and water saving features as part of any estate essential  
 repairs or capital projects
• Continue to develop our Carbon Management Plan to  
 identify projects that will reduce further carbon  
 emissions from the Service’s estate. 

It is worth stating that this is the first complete financial 
year for which the contracted energy bureau has been 
responsible for data collection of total energy and 
water consumption.  It is important to highlight that the 
appointment of an energy bureau also provides the 
additional function of a bill validation process, so the 
number of estimated bills will reduce as a result.  This may 
influence the 2015/16 consumption data as a result of the 
improvements in our billing accuracy.
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Metric Performance 
2014-15

17,894

11,190

6,429

275

56,610,559

20,819,431

34,757,701

1,033,427

£4,318,149

£2,902,956

£1,370,531

£44,662

Percentage + / -

-5.9%

-8.9%

+0.1%

-25.5%

+1.9%

+5.9%

+0.3%

-27.1%

- 0.3%

+3.1%

-5.9%

-47.1%

Gross emissions 
(tCO2e)

Gross emission 
by source 
(tCO2e)

Energy 
consumption 
(kWh)

Energy 
consumption by 
type (kWh)

Expenditure (£)

Expediture by 
type (£)

Total under scopes 
1 and 2

Electricity 
(non-renewable)

Gas

Other fuels for 
buildings

Total

Electricity 

Gas

Other fuels for 
buildings

Total

Electricity 

Gas

Other fuels for 
buildings

Energy Use

Performance 
2015-16

16,832

10,195

6,432

205

57,680,009

22,057,589

34,869,218

753,202

£4,305,891

£2,992,214

£1,290,042

£23,635

As result of the Scottish Government’s national framework 
agreement for the supply of energy for the public sector, 
all SFRS energy contracts continue to remain consolidated.

When considering the total energy consumption 
(electricity, gas and other fuels for buildings combined) of 
57,680,009 kwh for 2015/16, there was a 1.9% increase 
from 2014/15.  Electricity and gas consumption in 
2015/16 has increased by +5.9% and +0.3% respectively.  
However, despite an increase in electricity consumption 
the carbon emissions (tCO2e) output as a result of this 
consumption has actually decreased rather than increased.  

This is due to the UK electricity factor used to calculate 
tCO2e, which has decreased in comparison to the factor 
used in the previous year.  The UK electricity factor is prone 
to fluctuation from year to year as the fuel mix consumed 
in UK power stations and the proportion of net imported 
electricity changes.  

These changes can be large as the factor depends heavily 
on the relative prices of coal and natural gas as well as 
fluctuations in peak demand and renewables. 
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Refreshed energy inspections will be carried out for all Air 
Conditioning (AC) equipment with a combined cooling 
output of greater than 12 kilowatts.  This will ensure that 
the all AC equipment is running as efficiently as possible 
and that SFRS is complying with legislation.  This should 
also help reduce further electricity consumption.

Actions for 2016/17

• Reduce building energy consumption (as per the  
 actions for Greenhouse Gas Emissions)
• Refresh all energy inspections on all air conditioning  
 equipment with a combined cooling output of greater  
 than 12 kilowatts

Waste Management

We are currently unable to provide consistent and 
accurate data in relation to the quantities of waste sent to 
landfill and that which has been recycled throughout the 
estate, due to the wide range of waste contractors and 
approaches inherited from legacy services. 

During 2016/17 the Service will undertake a procurement 
exercise to establish a single waste management contract 
with the aim of introducing a uniform approach across 
Scotland, while ensuring compliance with legislation and 
providing consistent and accurate data for analysis. 

Actions for 2016/17

• Procure a single service waste contract for all SFRS sites
• Ensure that recyclable paper, plastic, metal, glass,  
 cardboard and food waste are not disposed of via  
 general waste
• Produce an awareness briefing note and training  
 course for the completion of waste transfer notes 

Business travel

The Service is in the process of developing a method for 
capturing and recording business travel mileage.  The 
Service’s new car leasing and business travel policy will 
assist in delivering this element once fully agreed and 
implemented across the Service.  The implementation of 
our Environmental Management System will introduce a 
new Operation Control Procedure for Employee Transport 
and Travel.  

This procedure will state the responsibilities of both 
employer and employee with regards to sustainable travel 
in addition to establishing our first Transport Hierarchy.  
This will favour environmental modes of transport such 
as green travel, public transport and car sharing in order 
to limit personal vehicle use.  The ultimate challenge for 
the business travel policy and for this procedure will be 
for employees to determine if business travel is absolutely 
necessary and to emphasise that other alternative 
methods of communication such as phone calls and video 
conferencing can be used just as effectively to replace any 
intended journeys. 

In order to encourage the use of energy efficient vehicles, 
there are vehicle charging points at the following sites: 

• West Service Delivery HQ, Hamilton 
• East SDA HQ and ARC, Newbridge Edinburgh
• Dunfermline Fire Station, Dunfermline
• Kirkcaldy Fire Station, Kirkcaldy
• Thornton Control, Thornton 
• Invergordon Fire Station and District Office,   
 Invergordon 
• Inverness Vehicle Workshops, Inverness 

We currently have 2 electric vehicles which are available 
for use for SFRS personnel. 
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Water Use

Metric Performance 
2015-16

139

47

92

137,220

130,359

794,428

Percentage + / -

-21.9%

-24.2%

-20.7%

-15.4%

-15.4%

-5.6%

Gross emissions 
(tCO2e)

Water volume 
(tCO2e)

Water volume 
(m3)

Expenditure (£)

Total under scope 3

Supply

Disposal

Supply

Disposal

Total

Performance 
2014-15

178

62

116

162,263

154,150

841,158

During the 2015/16 financial year there was a decrease 
in both water supply and disposal of 15.4% and 15.4% 
respectively.  Much of this improvement has been 
achieved through rigorous bill challenging both internally 
and through the energy bureau.

Actions for 2016/17

• Regional Property Managers are to consider water   
 saving measures as part of any estate essential repairs  
 or capital projects
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Climate Change Adaptation 

The two processes our Service carries out in relation to 
Climate Change Adaptation are mitigation and adaptation.  
Mitigation means identifying significant sources of carbon 
emissions within the Service that contribute to Climate 
Change while creating realistic solutions to significantly 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions within the Service.  
Adaptation means analysing any potential risks posed to 
the Service as a result of climate change.

Our Service will use the Carbon Management Plan (CMP) 
as a mitigation tool to identify buildings within the estate 
which generate significant greenhouse gas emissions as a 
result of energy consumption.  The CMP will list potential 
energy saving projects for our sites in order to reduce our 
greenhouse gas emissions.

In addition to Mitigation, SFRS will assess its own 
vulnerability to Climate Change using the Climate Change 
Assessment Tool (CCAT) in order to adapt to the changing 
climate as a result of greenhouse emissions.

The majority of reportable emissions are the outcome of 
building (site) usage within Service.  We currently have 
143 Energy Performance Certificates (EPC) displayed at 
sites which meet the current threshold for occupied public 
buildings.  From the data collated, a total of 12 sites are 
rated at the energy efficiency value of D and above with 
the remaining 131 sites rated at E to G.  From the 143 EPCs 
carried out, 110 sites are rated at the energy efficiency 
value of G, which represents 76.9% of the total 143 sites 
that have an EPC. 

This data indicates that there is considerable scope 
for building improvements within our sites in order to 
significantly improve the energy efficiency rating of the 
Service’s properties.  This is also concurrent with our 
reportable emissions which indicate the majority of 
carbon emissions are from buildings.   We will add the 
recommendations stated on each Energy Performance 
Certificate to the CMP list of projects to reduce energy 
consumption and increase the energy performance of the 
estate. 
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Biodiversity 

Our Service appreciates that Biodiversity and the 
Ecosystem is the foundation which supports life on Earth 
and the wellbeing of people.  Like all organisations, 
whether public, private, big or small, our day-to-day 
operations may impact on the environment and thus affect 
biodiversity.  We understand energy consumed, waste 
produce and procured goods all have a potential negative 
impact on the environment.  

As a result of this, biodiversity is embedded within our 
Environmental Policy as a key statement, to “minimise 
wherever possible the impact on Scotland’s natural 
habitat from (our) activities”.  The implementation of our 
Environmental Management System (EMS) will incorporate 
resource minimisation which will aid SFRS in lowering its 
environmental impact on biodiversity. 

Sustainable Procurement 

SFRS recognises its responsibility to carry out all its 
procurement activities in an environmentally and socially 
responsible manner whilst achieving value for money on a 
whole life basis.  

We are committed to observing our sustainable 
procurement duty as stated within the Procurement 
Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 and have updated our 
internal policies and procedures to reflect our legal duty 
and to ensure the proper consideration of how best we 
can improve the social, environmental and economic 
wellbeing of our communities through our procurement 
activity.    

Our Procurement Strategy provides guidance and 
direction on sustainability and we aim to continually 
develop and embed our commitment within our 
processes and procedures which are subject to 
review and monitoring through the implementation 
of our Procurement Strategy Action Plan and relevant 
performance indicators.

The SFRS procurement governance model provides a 
framework to ensure consideration is given to the three 
key areas of economic, environmental, and social factors 
when analysing the impact of sustainable procurement.  

It is against these three areas that consideration is 
given when undertaking pre market engagement and 
completing the Commodity Strategy, which together with 
the development of targeted outcomes, will ensure that 
sustainability is integrated into the procurement process in 
a proportionate manner.  

SFRS shall also continue to ensure that its procurement 
processes can facilitate the involvement of SMEs, third 
sector bodies and supported business whilst promoting 
innovation in the market place.

SFRS expects and encourages its contractors and their 
wider supply chain partners to adopt a similar ethos to 
sustainability and we will engage with them to make them 
aware of the SFRS’s commitment to the issue.  We actively 
support current and potential suppliers to participate 
in our procurement activity and we work with them to 
remove barriers to their participation.

SFRS have adopted the use of Sustainability and 
Prioritisation Toolkits, which assist staff involved in the 
Commodity Strategy development to identify areas 
which have the greatest impact in relation to economic, 
environmental and social issues thereby assisting in the 
achievement of Scottish Government National Outcomes.

Staff will continue to receive training to enhance their 
development in order to meet knowledge gaps in the 
understanding of sustainable procurement.

SFRS sustainable procurement performance is monitored 
against the Flexible Framework and the Procurement and 
Commercial Improvement Programme (PCIP) and we will 
continue to work with partner organisations across the UK 
in the exchange of best practice.
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Introduction
The SFRS presents its annual accounts for the year from 1 
April 2015 to 31 March 2016.  The accounts have been 
prepared in a form directed by the Scottish Ministers in 
accordance with Section 42A(1) of the Fire (Scotland) 
Act 2005 (inserted by section 118 of the Police and Fire 
Reform (Scotland) Act 2012), and in accordance with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM).

Statutory Background
The Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act received Royal 
Assent on 7 August 2012, with responsibility for Police 
and Fire and Rescue Services transferring from local 
government to new central government Other Significant 
Public Bodies on 1 April 2013.

The SFRS is governed by the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005, 
amended by the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 
2012.  It is responsible for fire safety, fire-fighting, attending 
road traffic collisions and dealing with other types of 
emergency.  The SFRS also works with partner agencies 
to be prepared for major emergencies and disruptive 
challenges.

Chief Officer and Board Members

Chair: Pat Watters
Deputy Chair: K Darwent

Chief Officer and Accountable Officer: Alasdair Hay

Board Members: R Benson, J Campbell , M Dwarshuis,
M Foxley, R Iffla, W McQueen, S Patten, N Pirie, G Thoms,
M Togneri

A full list of the company directorships and other significant 
interests can be found on the SFRS website.

Financial Performance
The format of the accounts is set by the FReM.  One of the 
reporting requirements is that Grant in Aid (GiA) provided 
by the Scottish Government is included in the General 
Reserve of the SoFP (Statement of Financial Position) rather 
than in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
(SoCNE).  All other income and expenditure is included in 
the SoCNE.  The deficit for the period is transferred to the 
General Reserve and is funded by GiA held there.

The cash GiA drawn down in financial year 2015/16 was 
£287.083 million for both resource and capital purposes 
against a cash Departmental Expenditure Limit (DEL) 
budget of £288.481 million.  

The budget includes an additional £8 million for working 
capital purposes, i.e. changes in year-end creditors and 
accruals, however the variance of £1.398 million reflects 
that not all of this was required in financial year 2015/16.

The key measure of financial performance is the 
comparison of expenditure against the Departmental 
Expenditure Limit (DEL) funding provided by the Scottish 
Government.  The underspend of £0.236 million in 
Resource expenditure relates to a number of factors with 
the most significant being: an underspend in employee 
costs of £1.606 million, relating predominantly to the 
Support Staff cadre, including private contractors, where 
vacancies proved challenging to fill and an overspend in 
other operating costs of £1.370 million, due to increases 
in insurance costs following “Storm Frank”, delays in 
delivering savings in ICT due to staff vacancies and 
increases in utility costs.  

The SoFP shows net liabilities of £2.657 billion, due mainly 
to the inclusion of liabilities related to defined benefit 
pension schemes required by IAS19.  These liabilities 
will fall due in future years and will be financed by grant 
funding from the Scottish Government.  Budgets have 
been approved for financial year 2016/17 and there is no 
reason to believe that these approvals will not be granted 
in the future.  These financial statements have therefore 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The attached accounts are prepared on an accruals basis, 
meaning transactions are matched to the period in which 
they occurred, not when physical cash transactions took 
place.  This results in accounting adjustments, such as 
accruals and prepayments, and also in relation to pensions 
as required by International Accounting Standards (IAS) 
19 – Employment Benefits.  These are reflected in Total 
Comprehensive Net Income before Grant from the 
Scottish Government of £388 million for financial period 
2015/16 (Net Expenditure of £885 million in 2014/15), 
as per the financial statements contained in the Annual 
Accounts section of this document. 
 
The difference between the two years is due to significant 
actuarial gains of approximately £804 million experienced 
during the year in relation to the Pension schemes that the 
SFRS participates in. The main reason for this is financial 
assumption changes made by our actuaries over the year.  
Changes to mortality and demographic assumptions in 
comparison to the previous financial year have also led to a 
reduction in the liability.

Director’s Report 
Accountability Report
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The accounting policy on employee benefits is detailed 
in note 1.7.  The Remuneration Report provides detail of 
pension related benefits for senior employees.  The most 
significant element is the impact of future pension liabilities 
which is explained further in Note 14 later in the Accounts.
The key risks relating to financial instruments (credit, 
liquidity and market risks) are discussed in Note 24.

Charging Policy
The primary statutory functions of the SFRS are set out 
in the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 (“the 2005 Act”), as 
amended by the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 
2012, as well as the Fire (Additional Function) (Scotland) 
Order 2005 (“the 2005 Order”).  In summary, SFRS is 
required to protect and prevent our communities from 
fire, enforce fire legislation, investigate fire and provide fire 
and rescue emergency response to our communities.  No 
charges are levied as these services are funded through 
Scottish Government.

Charges may be levied for special services supplied 
by SFRS in line with the powers set out within the Fire 
(Scotland) Act 2005, Fire (Charging) (Scotland) Order 
2005 and Fire (Additional Functions) (Scotland) Order 
2005.  Charges have been developed based on the 
expected actual cost of delivery to SFRS, including 
overheads as per Scottish Government requirements.

Future Events
There are no significant events affecting SFRS which 
have occurred since the end of the financial year.  Future 
developments have been included in the statement of 
performance and activities.

Asset Management Strategy
Effective asset management ensures that our essential 
frontline services have the right equipment, ICT, vehicles 
and appliances available to them at all times, as well 
as providing accommodation that is safe, secure and 
strategically located for effective service delivery.

The Asset Management Strategy assists in ensuring 
that the SFRS is entirely compliant with regards to the 
regulatory, contractual and legislative commitments but, 
more than that, it also ensures that we strive to implement 
best practice whenever possible.  Our Strategy underpins 
the SFRS Strategic Plan and is now fully embedded within 
our Long Term Financial Strategy.  

It is our commitment to the environment and our 
environmental vision to be ‘a high performing, 
environmentally conscious and responsible organisation 

through prevention, partnership, people and continuous 
improvement’; we understand that we have a significant 
role to play in protecting the environment, reflected in our 
vision and strategy

Staff Communications
Our Communications Team has a suite of internal 
communication channels to target information and improve 
the two-way flow of information to our colleagues across the 
country. 

These channels are regularly reviewed and, following the 
results of our Colleague Communications Survey earlier 
in 2016, the team has streamlined our communication 
approach to ensure that our people get the right 
information, at the right time to the channels that best suit 
them. 

As well as introducing a national digital newsletter that 
allows us to share best practice and innovation right across 
Scotland, we have radically reduced non-essential emails 
and developed a system to ensure that operational critical 
information is targeted to the very people that rely on this 
information to carry out their roles safely and effectively.

Our quarterly newsletter will be re-launched after listening 
to what our colleagues told us they want to read about, 
and we’re planning a programme which will ensure our 
managers are equipped with the information they need on 
key organisational issues and hot topics through our new 
Managers’ Brief. Our people remain our greatest asset and 
we will do everything we can to make sure that they are kept 
fully engaged and informed.

Equal Opportunities
Further details of our Equal Opportunities policies are 
included within the Performance Report: Sustainability 
Report - Equality and Social Inclusion.

Sickness Absence Data
The average percentage of shifts lost per Firefighter was 
4.4% and the average percentage of days lost for other 
staff was 4.9%.  These figures are taken from our new 
iTrent system, which is currently bedding in.  The method 
of measurement does not correlate sufficiently with 
previously used legacy absence recording systems, so it 
would not be appropriate to draw a direct comparison 
with figures from previous years.

Research and Development
No research and development activities took place during 
2015/16.
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Policy and Practice on Payment of Creditors
The SFRS terms and conditions for payment of suppliers 
is to pay suppliers within 30 days of the invoice date.  
Analysis of our performance during 2015/16 shows that 
79% of invoices were paid within this timescale (90% 
in 2014/15). Management action has been taken to 
address this reduction and performance measures put 
in place.  These are monitored regularly and reviewed at 
monthly management meetings, and have resulted in an 
improvement in performance.

Independent Auditors and Professional Advisers
Under the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000, auditors are appointed by the Auditor General.  
Grant Thornton UK LLP has been appointed to carry out 
this duty for the year ending 31 March 2016.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the SFRS auditors are not aware.  The 
Directors have taken all reasonable steps that they ought 
to have taken in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the SFRS 
auditors are aware of this information.

The auditor’s remuneration for providing statutory audit 
services for financial period ending 2015/16 is £0.095 
million.  No non-audit services were provided in this period.

Auditors  
Grant Thornton UK LLP, Level 8, 110 Queen Street, 
Glasgow, G1 3BX 

Actuaries
Barnett Waddingham LLP, 163 West George Street, 
Glasgow, G2 2JJ

Hymans Robertson, 20 Waterloo Street,  
Glasgow, G2 6DB

Mercer, Exchange Station, Tithebarn Street,  
Liverpool, L2 2QP

Government Actuary’s Department (GAD), Belford House, 
59 Belford Road, Edinburgh, EH4 3UE

Banking
The SFRS operates within the Scottish Government 
banking contract with the Government Banking Service 
(GBS), which is a shared banking service for government 
departments. The contract was renewed during the year, 
resulting in a change of our bank to National Westminster 
Bank, which is part of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group.

The main banks used by the SFRS within the GBS are 
Citibank and Royal Bank of Scotland.
 
Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland, PO Box51, 36 St Andrews Square, 
Edinburgh, EH2 2AD

Royal Bank of Scotland, London Corporate SC, 
PO Box 39952, 2 1/2 Devonshire Square, 
London Corporate SC, EC2M 4XJ

Citibank, Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, 
London, E14 5LB

National Westminster Bank, London Corporate SC,
CPB Services, 2nd Floor, 280 Bishopsgate,
London, EC2M 4RB

Accountable Officer
Alasdair Hay QFSM
Chief Officer

Organisation:
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

June 2016
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Under the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012, the 
SFRS is required to prepare financial statements for each 
financial period in the form and on the basis determined by 
the Scottish Ministers.  The Accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the SFRS and of its income and expenditure, 
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the 
financial period.

In preparing the Accounts, the Accountable Officer 
is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular 
to:

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish  
 Ministers, including the relevant accounting and  
 disclosure requirements, and apply suitable  
 accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set  
 out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual  
 have been followed, and disclose and explain any  
 material departures in the financial statements; and

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern  
 basis.

In addition, SFRS has general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard its assets 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
 

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 

Scottish Ministers have appointed the Chief Officer as the 
Accountable Officer for the SFRS.  The responsibilities of 
an Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which 
the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper 
records and for safeguarding SFRS’ assets, are set out in 
the Memorandum to Accountable Officers for Other Public 
Bodies issued by the Scottish Government and published 
as part of the Scottish Public Finance Manual.

Accountable Officer
Alasdair Hay QFSM
Chief Officer

Organisation:
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

June 2016
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Scope of Responsibility 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control, risk 
management and corporate governance that supports 
the achievement of the SFRS policies, strategic aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets 
for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with 
the responsibilities assigned to me.

I am also responsible for ensuring that the SFRS is 
administered prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the Principal 
Officers Memorandum to Accountable Officers of Other 
Public Bodies.

the SFRS Corporate Governance Framework   
The SFRS Board (‘the Board’) comprises a Non-executive 
Chair and 11 Non-executive Members. Members of the 
Board are appointed by the Scottish Ministers in line with 
the Code of Practice for Ministerial Appointments to Public 
Bodies in Scotland.  The normal term of office for Non-
executive Board Members is four years although lengths of 
appointments may be varied to ensure continuity of Board 
membership and maintenance of appropriate skill sets. 

the Board   
The Board is responsible for providing strategic direction, 
support and guidance to the SFRS, ensuring it discharges 
its functions effectively and that Ministers’ priorities are 
implemented.  The SFRS Governance and Accountability 
Framework Document sets out these responsibilities in 
detail, along with the formal relationships between the 
SFRS and the Scottish Ministers and officials.

The Board discusses, debates and makes decisions in a 
number of areas and, in particular focuses on:

• the quality of the Service being delivered and how this  
 can be improved;
• strategic decisions, including key areas for future  
 development, and
• financial position and performance, to ensure that the  
 Service is in line with its targets and statutory   
 obligations.

The Board has approved Standing Orders and a Scheme of 
Delegations (incorporating matters reserved to the Board) 
in place that outline the responsibilities for the Board, 
Chief Officer and Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) on key 
issues such as governance and financial transactions.  

All staff are required to comply with the requirements set 
out in these documents. 

During 2015/16, the Board met eight times in public and 
made the minutes and papers of these meetings available 
on its website.  These meetings were held at various 
locations throughout Scotland including Galashiels, 
Cambuslang, Elgin, Perth, Livingston, and Arbroath.   
The Board used this mobility to ensure communities across 
Scotland had access to their meetings and afforded the 
Board an opportunity to meet with a wide range of local 
stakeholders at planned pre-board meeting engagement 
events.

The highlights of the Board’s work during 2015/16 were 
the following:

• Scrutinised and monitored the financial management  
 of the Service, to ensure that the 2015/16 capital  
 and resource budgets were on target, and approved  
 the 2016/17 capital and resource budgets;
• Set the transformational lines of enquiry for the Service,  
 and considered options best suited for a more detailed  
 analysis;
• Considered options for the establishment of a national  
 headquarters building, finally approving the site at  
 Cambuslang as the preferred option;
• Scrutinised the progress of the Service’s Strategic  
 Intent Programme;
• Approved key corporate governance policies,  
 including a revised scheme of delegation, publication  
 scheme and equality and diversity charter;
• Approved personnel policies of major significance to  
 the Service, including a succession planning  
 framework, a values framework and performance  
 management arrangements for senior staff;
• Considered the Balmoral Bar Lessons Identified Report,  
 endorsing its key lessons and recommendations;
• Reviewed the 2013-16 Strategic Plan in line with  
 statutory requirement, and agreed an approach for  
 developing the 2016-19 Strategic Plan;
• Considered a lessons learned report on the formation  
 of the SFRS, approving its publication and the holding  
 of a workshop to share the findings of the report, and
• Received regular updates from the Board’s Standing  
 Committees, seeking assurances on specific matters  
 that were delegated to the Committees for scrutinising. 

Governance Statement
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Name of Number of  Possible 
Board Member meetings 
  attended in year

P Watters (Chairman) 8 8

K Darwent (Deputy Chair) 7 8

R Benson 8 8

J Campbell 7 8

M Dwarshuis 8 8

M Foxley 8 8

R Iffla 6 8

W McQueen 8 8

S Patten 7 8

N Pirie 7 8

G Thoms 7 8

M Togneri 7 8

Board Members   
The biographies and interests of Board members can be 
found on the SFRS website at www.firescotland.gov.uk/
about-us/sfrs-board.aspx SFRS Board meetings attended 
by members during 2015/16 are detailed in the table 
below.

Committee Structure and Coverage
In order to manage the totality of its business and to 
enable a detailed level of scrutiny work during 2015/16, 
the Board had a committee structure comprising five 
standing Committees and one Sub-committee.  Each of 
these Committees had a terms of reference, which were 
reviewed and approved by the Board on 28 May 2015.

Figure 1 - SFRS Board Committee Structure during 2015/16

Audit and 
Risk Assurance 

Committee

Engagement 
Committee

Performance
Committee

Service 
Transformation 

Committee

SFRS
Board

Staff Governance
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Appointments and 
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Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC)
The ARAC scrutinises the systems and processes in 
place across the organisation to provide the Board and 
Accountable Officer with assurance that it is effectively 
governed, well run and on track to achieve its strategic 
aims and objectives.

The ARAC comprises five Non-executive Members and 
during 2015/16 met five times in public. Representatives 
from the external and internal auditors attended all 
meetings and were given the opportunity to speak 
confidentially to the Committee Members.  The 
Accountable Officer and senior officers, including the 
Director of Finance and Contractual Services were invited 
to attend the ARAC as appropriate. Representatives from 
Her Majesty’s Fire Service Inspectorate (HMFSI) were also 
invited to attend, to provide updates on their programme 
of inspections.

The highlights of the ARAC’s work during 2015/16 were 
the following:

 • Agreed  a programme of work with Internal Audit for  
  2015/16 and beyond and noted the overall opinion  
  given by Internal Audit in its Annual Assurance  
  Report;

 • Received and reviewed the 2014/15 annual report  
  and accounts from Grant Thornton UK LLP as external  
  auditors to the SFRS.  The Committee noted the  
  scope of work undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP  
  to address the potential risk of material mis-statement  
  in SFRS’s financial statements and noted that no  
  significant issues of control weakness were identified  
  during the course of this work;

 • Noted the recommendations and the management  
  of HMFSI inspections, in so far as they relate to the  
  overall control environment and the level of  
  assurance required. The Committee was pleased to  
  note that no significant issues were identified;

 • Reviewed regular updates on risk management  
  arrangements and revisions to the Corporate Risk  
  Register, and were satisfied that a robust risk  
  management process was in place within the SFRS;

 • Received and reviewed the accounting policies  
  underpinning the financial statements, including  
  pensions and fixed assets and were satisfied that the  
  accounting policies adopted for the preparation  
  of the 2015/16 accounts were appropriate for the  
  organisation and that financial systems were  
  operating effectively, and

 • Conducted a self-assessment of the Committee’s  
  effectiveness based on the Public Service  
  Improvement Framework (PSIF), identifying areas for  
  improvement and preparation of a relevant action  
  plan

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee meetings attended 
by members during 2015/16 are detailed in the table 
below.

 Name of Number of  Possible 
 Board Member meetings 
  attended in year

 N Pirie (Chair) 5 5

 J Campbell 5 5

 R Benson 5 5

 W McQueen 4 5 

S Patten 4 5

the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
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Service transformation Committee (StC) 
The STC provides oversight and direction on the 
development and achievement of the SFRS Transformation 
Programme and Benefits Realisation Plan.

The STC comprises five Non-executive Members and 
during 2015/16 met five times in public. A representative 
from the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) attended all STC 
meetings and the Deputy Chief Officer and other senior 
officers were invited to attend as appropriate. 

The highlights of the STC’s work during 2015/16 were the 
following:

 • Reviewed overall programme delivery, and provided  
  guidance to the programme manager to ensure that  
  prioritisation was given to transformation projects  
  assessed as being key to programme delivery and  
  which would realise the financial savings required to  
  deliver the critical savings pathway;

 • Reviewed the programme risk register, considering in  
  some detail the risk of shortage of skilled and  
  experienced project staff to support the successful  
  delivery of the programme, particularly in relation to  
  ICT resources.

 • Considered closing reports for nine projects, and  
  requested additional information prior to closure on  
  one occasion;

 • Received detailed updates on the Key Projects (those  
  projects considered critical for overall programme  
  and benefits delivery), and sought additional  
  information on aspects of these projects from the  
  programme manager or individual project managers;

 • Considered new or revised project dossiers for five  
  new or re-scoped projects, and

 • Considered the ongoing development of the  
  benefits realisation overview for the Programme,  
  and were content with the processes and practices  
  for capturing benefits that are employed as part of  
  the programme, and that were presented in the  
  interim benefits realisation report.

 Name of Number of  Possible 
 Board Member meetings 
  attended in year

 M Dwarshuis (Chair) 5 5

 M Foxley 4 5

 B McQueen 5 5

 N Pirie 5 5

 G Thoms 4 5

Service transformation Committee

Service Transformation Committee meetings attended by 
members in the year during 2015/16 are detailed in the 
table below.
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Engagement Committee
The Engagement Committee has oversight of the 
development of processes and plans that meet the 
services strategic aims, in the context of demonstrating the 
effectiveness of SFRS engagement activities in building 
safer and more resilient communities, and improving 
outcomes through partnership working.

The Engagement Committee comprises five Non-
executive Members and during 2015/16 met four times in 
public.  The Director of Strategic Planning, Performance 
and Communication and other senior officers were invited 
to attend the meetings as appropriate. 

The highlights of the Engagement Committee’s work 
during 2015/16 were the following:

 • Outlined the Board’s expectations and actions  
  for initiating the SFRS Engagement Framework  
  Implementation Plan;

 • Received regular updates on engagement around  
  the new Strategic Plan and how evidence was being  
  gathered with partners, including Trade Unions;

 • Engaged with staff and Board members on a future  
  Board Member Engagement and Communication  
  Loop, including an underpinning Purpose Statement  
  and Guiding Principles document; 

 • Considered the Social Media Policy for suitability  
  and effectiveness before going to the Board for  
  formal approval;

 • Clarified key aspects of the new role of Head of \ 
  Communications and Engagement, particularly in the  
  area of promoting and developing the SFRS’s  
  reputation and engagement with key institutional  
  stakeholders such as Scottish Government Ministers;

 • Reviewed the Board’s arrangements for holding Local  
  Stakeholder Engagement Meetings across Scotland,  
  to ensure these events continue to be worthwhile  
  and add value; 

 • Reviewed the Ageing Safely, and Youth Engagement  
  Frameworks, which are designed to play into next  
  SFRS Strategic Plan and highlighted the potential for  
  delivering these through social media channels;

 Name of Number of  Possible 
 Board Member meetings 
  attended in year

R Benson (Chair) 4 4

J Campbell 4 4

R Iffla 4 4

G Thoms 2 4

M Togneri 3 4

Local and Stakeholder  Committee

 • Considered Internal Audit’s report - Review into  
  External Communication arrangements. The report  
  was very positive demonstrating where lessons have  
  been learned whilst giving a reasonable assurance  
  albeit given the current maturity of the organisation,  
  and

 • Noted that the new appointment to the Head of  
  Communications and Engagement was already  
  impacting positively on the work of the Committee.

Engagement Committee meetings attended by members 
during 2015/16 are detailed in the table below.
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Performance Committee
The Performance Committee undertakes the on-going 
scrutiny in relation performance matters of the service 
on behalf of the Board, and considers and recommends 
enhancements and improvements to the SFRS’s 
performance management and service improvement 
arrangements.

The Performance Committee comprises five Non-
executive Members and during 2015/16 met four times in 
public.  The Director of Strategic Planning, Performance 
and Communication and other senior officers were invited 
to attend the Meetings as appropriate. 

The highlights of the Performance Committee’s work 
during 2015/16 were the following:

 • Scrutinised operational performance data and  
  identified improvement opportunities in design and  
  presentation;

 • Monitored the progress of the Annual Operating Plan  
  2015/16 against its intended objectives and sought  
  assurances that corrective action was being taken to  
  address objectives that were overrunning their target  
  date, or risked overrunning their target date;

 • Monitored performance against the SFRS’s  Key  
  Performance Indicators and sought assurances that  
  corrective action was being taken to address any  
  under-performance;

 • Set up a programme of community safety themed  
  case studies, providing the opportunity to identify  
  good practice, particularly in the areas of partnering  
  and data sharing;

 • Identified shortcomings in existing data collection  
  procedures;

 • Established new working relationships with related  
  organisations with the aim of improving the SFRS’s   
  approach to performance measurement and scrutiny;

 • Oversaw the transfer from Scottish Government of  
  the production and publication of SFRS National   
  Statistics;

 • Reviewed the Qlickview Dashboard Business  
  Intelligence System presenting a hierarchical view of  
  performance data;

 • Liaised closely with other SFRS committees on  
  performance related matters, and
 
 • Considered opportunities for meaningful    
  benchmarking.

Performance Committee meetings attended by members 
during 2015/16 are detailed in the table below.

 Name of Number of  Possible 
 Board Member meetings 
  attended in year

S Patten (Chair) 4 4

J Campbell 4 4

K Darwent 3 4

M Foxley 3 4

R Iffla 4 4

Performance Committee
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Staff Governance Committee (SGC)
The SGC provides strategic advice and direction on 
matters affecting employees and ensures that staffing and 
remuneration arrangements support the strategic aims and 
objectives of the Service, and are affordable.

The SGC comprises five Non-executive Members and 
during 2015/16 met four times in public.  The Director 
of People and Organisational Development (POD) and 
other senior officers were invited to attend the meetings as 
appropriate.

The highlights of the SGC’s work during 2015/16 were the 
following:

• Harmonisation of the terms and conditions of non-   
 uniformed staff (which varied - particularly in terms of   
 allowances across the antecedent services);

• Considered draft proposals on the SFRS “Values  
 Framework”;

• Considered POD policies which were the subject of  
 harmonisation, review or new drafting and, in particular,  
 recommended which of these should come forward for  
 formal Board approval in due course; 

• Considered the SFRS’s progress on equalities and   
 following up the Cultural Audit;

• Considered the Health and Safety at Work  policies and  
 Annual Report ;

• Considered the Workforce Planning Report;

• Scrutinised proposals for Succession Planning,  
 including arrangements for the Senior Leadership Team;

• Reviewed proposals for detailed performance reporting  
 on the POD Directorate. This  included a range of  
 staffing indicators and benchmarks, to provide context  
 to Committee members for their deliberations on pay  
 and reward matters, appeals, and to enable monitoring  
 of the effectiveness of the people management policies  
 and procedures, and

• Established a Remuneration, Appointments and  
 Nominations Sub-committee, to advise on the  
 remuneration and appointments strategy and  
 supporting frameworks, and held two meetings of the  
 Sub-committee.

Staff Governance Committee meetings attended by 
members during 2015/16 are detailed in the table below.

 Name of Number of  Possible 
 Board Member meetings 
  attended in year

W McQueen (Chair) 3 4

K Darwent 3 4

M Dwarshuis 4 4

R Iffla 4 4

M Togneri 4 4

Staff Gopvernance Committee
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Review of Board Effectiveness 
The Board is committed to developing its capacity and 
capability to be effective, and ensures that its performance 
as a whole, individual Committees and individual Board 
Members is regularly reviewed.  During 2015/16, the 
Board’s review of how well it was performing was informed 
by:

• The recommendations from Audit Scotland’s external  
 audit of the SFRS;
• A review of the effectiveness of the Board’s Committees,  
 and
• The annual appraisal of the Chair and each Board  
 Member.

Published in May 2015, the report into Audit Scotland’s 
external audit of the SFRS recommended that the SFRS 
should:

“Provide board papers that are timely with an appropriate 
level of detail. There should be a balance between 
quantity and quality and papers should differentiate 
between operational information and information that the 
board needs for strategic decision-making”.

In support of addressing this recommendation, a review 
of the Board’s information requirements for effective 
strategic decision making was conducted at a non-
executive workshop on 1 December 2015.  Feedback 
from this session along with the outcomes of a previous 
CIPFA facilitated board decision-making workshop is 
now being used to develop a more controlled process 
for coordinating and presenting papers that go to the 
Board.  A revised format for Board Strategy Days was also 
introduced in October 2015, in order to focus information 
going to these sessions on genuinely high level strategic 
issues. 

The Board has adopted a Zero-based Committee 
Structure, whereby all Committees are stood-down 
automatically at the end of each year and the Board then 
re-evaluates its Committee needs.  As a basis for the 
2015/16 Committee review, each existing Committee 
provided a ‘Value Added Statement’ as evidence in 
support of their effectiveness, and an exercise was 
undertaken to re-evaluate the scrutiny and assurance 
needs of the Board, based on organisational priorities.

A paper outlining the outcomes of the 2015/16 
Committee review and recommendations was brought to 
the Board on 31 March 2016 and this has led to a working 
group being formed, to develop a committee structure 
that will give assurances to the Board of alignment with 
the future Fire and Rescue Framework for Scotland 2016 
and SFRS Strategic Plan 2016-19.  The existing committee 
structure will therefore continue to operate pending 
a revised committee structure being developed and 
implemented from 1 October 2016.

During 2015/16, the Chair of the Board carried out an 
annual appraisal for each Board member on how they had 
performed.  The senior civil servant responsible for the 
SFRS in the Scottish Government also assessed how the 
Chair had performed.  

The outcomes of Board Members appraisals and 
production of a skills matrix was used to consider the 
Board’s strengths and weaknesses and therefore helped 
to inform its medium to long term succession planning 
arrangements.  These arrangements included supporting 
the Scottish Government’s strategy of having a 50:50 
gender representation on the boards of public bodies by 
2020.
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Risk and Control Framework
The SFRS is exposed to a diverse range of risks, which 
result from factors both internal and external to the Service.  
The SFRS recognises that it cannot entirely eliminate risk 
from Service provision and that a residual level of risk will 
always remain and impact upon its ability to achieve its 
strategic aims and objectives.
A Risk Management Framework is in place to evaluate, 
control and monitor risks impacting upon the SFRS’s 
strategic aims and objectives.  By doing so, our Service 
will make better informed decisions and improve the 
probability of achieving its strategic aims and objectives.

Our approach to risk management seeks to ensure that 
the management of risk flows from the most senior level 
down through Directorates, Functions, Service Delivery 
areas and staff of the SFRS.  This approach is explained 
in our Risk Management Policy and, along with roles and 
responsibilities of employees and Board Members, gives 
clarity around ownership for identifying and managing 
risk.  This includes the risk levels they are empowered to 
manage, risks that should be avoided and those that need 
to be escalated.  

During 2015/16, the development of the Risk 
Management Framework continued to evolve as we 
transformed, with revised risk registers, now incorporating 
the principles of risk appetite, operating at both Corporate 
and Directorate levels.  Additional enhancement of 
the process continued through the integration with 
the strategic planning and performance systems of 
the Service.  The focus for 2016/17 is the continued 
development of a risk aware culture, integrating the 
management of risk within the day to day activities of the 
Service and maintaining awareness and ownership of the 
process within the SFRS workforce.

Our Service’s Risk Management Procedures provide a 
single, consistent approach for the recording, assessment 
and reporting of risk.  These procedures are integrated 
within the Service’s Planning and Performance Framework, 
and are used as a management tool to understand and 
mitigate the risks causing uncertainty in the delivery of 
our strategic aims and objectives. It is, however, only 
one component of our internal control arrangements 
and is supported by other mechanisms including internal 
and external audit and a range of corporate policies and 
procedures, which are available for all staff on the intranet.  

These include our Service’s:

• Risk Management Policy
• Whistleblowing Policy
• Fraud Policy and Response Plan
• Health and Safety Policy
• Data Protection Policy
• Complaints Policy

Our Service remains committed to setting robust standards 
for information governance, ensuring compliance 
with data protection and other legal requirements.  In 
order to support this, we have been developing robust 
information sharing processes to allow the safe exchange 
of information with partner agencies in compliance with 
the Data Protection Act. 

Our Business Continuity Framework is a key internal 
control, linking to both our Assurance Framework, as 
outlined at Section 5.1, and Risk Management Framework.  
The development and implementation of plans and 
routine reporting through our Service’s governance 
arrangements will provide assurance that appropriate 
resilience plans are in place and are operating effectively.  
Work is continuing to develop a generic framework 
that can be applied to a range of potential disruptions, 
following the principles of international standard ISO 
22301.

Robust review, monitoring and scrutiny arrangements 
reflect the priority placed upon the effective management 
of risk within our Service.  The Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee (ARAC) advises the Board and the Accountable 
Officer on the effectiveness of strategic processes for 
risk management and internal control.  During 2015/16, 
quarterly written and verbal reports to the ARAC and 
periodic reports from the Chair of the ARAC to the Board, 
provided assurance that appropriate systems of risk 
management and internal control were in place.  Similar 
reporting arrangements were adopted by the SLT, to 
ensure awareness and ownership of risk was retained 
throughout the Directorates of the Service.  Integration 
of the Corporate Risk Register within the Assurance 
Framework and associated assurance reporting processes 
further enhances scrutiny arrangements.  
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Risk Assessment
The most significant risks identified by our Service are 
reported through the Corporate Risk Register with 
escalation processes ensuring that Directorate and Project 
Registers support and inform the Corporate Risk Register.  
Prioritisation of each risk is undertaken in line with our 
risk assessment matrix, and guidance is provided to staff 
around probability and likelihood ratings.

During 2015/16, fifteen corporate risks were identified 
within the Corporate Risk Register.  The higher risk areas 
identified related to:  

• Failure to attract and retain staff with appropriate skills 
• Failure to maintain and improve the safety of    
 communities and staff 
• Failure to standardise and align resources, taking   
 account of national and local factors 
• Failure to fully develop succession planning    
 arrangements 
• Failure to meet statutory obligations Meeting   
 performance targets
• Failure to meet Financial Sustainability

The introduction of a risk appetite assessment identified a 
further two risks which required additional scrutiny:

• Failure to adopt effective governance arrangements,   
 and
• Failure to demonstrate Best Value

For each risk, within the Corporate Risk Register, a 
member of the SLT has been appointed as the risk owner.  
Risk owners provide information on current controls in 
place and additional actions still required to mitigate the 
impact or probability of a risk occurring.  Scrutiny and 
assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness of controls 
is undertaken through quarterly reporting to the ARAC 
and the SLT, and annually through the SFRS Assurance 
Framework, which is outlined at Section 5.1 of this 
statement.

Review of Effectiveness of Risk Management and 
Internal Control
As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for reviewing 
the effectiveness of systems of risk management, internal 
control and corporate governance.  My review is informed 
by many sources, and includes the work of the Executive 
Directors, the ARAC, the views of the organisations internal 
and external auditors and the outcomes of inspection work 
carried out by independent bodies such as HMFSI.  

The key findings of the review are listed below. 
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Failure to attract and retain staff with appropriate skills

Failure to maintain and improve the safety of communities and staff

Failure to standardise and align resources, taking account of national and local factors

Failure to fully develop succession planning arrangements

Failure to meet statutory obligations

Failure to meet performance targets set within Strategic Plan and Annual Operating Plan

Failure to meet Financial Sustainability

Failure to adopt effective governance arrangements

Failure to demonstrate Best Value

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

AssuranceCorporate Risks 

Assurance Framework
The SFRS Assurance Framework provides a structured 
means of identifying and mapping the main sources 
of assurance in the organisation, and coordinating this 
evidence to provide an overall opinion of the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Service’s risk management, and 
internal control arrangements. 

During 2015/16, a risk-based assurance plan was 
followed, to ensure that the assurance evidence 
being gathered and assessed was focussed on the 
most appropriate areas of the Service. Prior to its 
implementation, the assurance plan was considered by the 
ARAC at its meeting held on 15 March 2015. 

Assurance Categories - Key

Substantial Assurance

Reasonable Assurance

Limited Assurance

Insufficient Assurance

Controls are robust and well managed

Controls are adequate but require improvement

Controls are developing but weak

Controls are not acceptable and have notable weaknesses

The evidence gathered and assessed was rated using 
the same categories adopted by our Internal Auditors 
(Substantial, Reasonable, Limited and Insufficient) and the 
following assurance levels were provided.

On the basis of this internal piece of assurance work, I have 
been provided with overall Reasonable Assurance that 
there are adequate and effective risk management and 
internal controls in place.  

Areas for development, including assurance gaps have 
been identified and will be addressed to enhance the 
adequacy and effectiveness of our risk management and 
internal control arrangements.  
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Partnership Working

Strategic Planning

Risk Management

Corporate Communication

Engagement/Consultation

Business Continuity Management

Performance Management

Financial Management

Whistleblowing

Counter Fraud

Complaints

Environmental

Health & Safety

Equality and Diversity

Operational Assurance

Service Transformation 

Procurement/Contracts

Information Technology

Information Governance - Record Management 

Information Governance - Compliance

Information Governance - Security

Corporate Governance

AssuranceKey Functions and Processes

Substantial

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Limited

Reasonable

Substantial

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Limited

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Substantial

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable

Reasonable
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Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
The ARAC provides an Annual Report to the Accountable 
Officer and the Board, summarising its evaluation of 
the SFRS’s risk management, governance and internal 
control arrangements.  The ARAC has submitted its 
Annual Report based upon the work it conducted during 
2015/16 and is of the opinion that the SFRS has effective 
risk management, governance and internal control 
arrangements in place that are sufficient to give me, as the 
Accountable Officer the necessary assurance in relation to 
the preparation of this Annual Governance Statement.

Records Management 

Banking, income and Cash Management

Risk Management, Business Continuity and Insurance arrangements

iTrent Remit 1: Roll out and migration project

iTrent Remit 2: New Central Payroll Controls

Environmental Responsibilities (including Energy Management 
Carbon footprint compliance requirements/ reduction)

AssuranceAudit Area

Internal Audit
During 2015/16, Internal Audit undertook audit reviews 
on the areas detailed below and provided the following 
assurance levels.

The approved SFRS audit programme for 2015/16 has 
now been sufficiently covered and Internal Audit are able 
to provide SFRS with a Reasonable Assurance in respect 
of SFRS’ risk management, control and governance 
arrangements.

External Audit
The Auditor General for Scotland appointed Grant 
Thornton UK LLP as auditors to the SFRS covering the 
12 month period ending 31st March 2016.  Interim 
audit testing was carried out during April 2016.  No 
material weaknesses were identified as part of the review 
undertaken by external audit.

Reasonable Assurance 
 

Reasonable Assurance

Emerging Reasonable Assurance (Draft Report Stage)

Emerging Reasonable Assurance (fieldwork concluded)

Emerging Limited Assurance (fieldwork concluded)

Emerging Limited Assurance (fieldwork concluded)
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Her Majesty’s Fire Service Inspectorate (HMFSI)
The SFRS has a duty under the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 to 
have regard to any report given to it by HMFSI and, having 
had regard to it, to take such action as it thinks fit. During 
the period under review, HMFSI published the thematic 
and local area inspection reports listed below:-

Aberdeen City

East Renfrewshire

Western Isles

West Lothian

Local Area Inspections

Performance Management Information Systems in the SFRS

Planning and Defining Service Resources in the SFRS

Preparedness of the SFRS for a Serious Flood Event

Managing Automatic Fire Signals

Thematic Inspections

HMFSI has published an annual report of the work it 
undertook during 2015/16, and in its conclusions stated:

 “In summary, we found that the Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service was on the whole well respected by partners 
for the work that it undertook. It has made considerable 
progress forming into a single service from the eight 
legacy services and meeting the requirements of the first 
National Framework set by the Scottish Ministers.
The Service still faces considerable challenges in 
transforming itself further to follow the strategic direction 
set by the Christie report in the years ahead and to meet 
the ever evolving needs of Scottish communities”.

Our response to the recommendations and other key 
findings from the inspection reports published during 
2015/16 are being monitored by the Performance 
Improvement Forum, with oversight and scrutiny of this 
work through the ARAC. These mechanisms form part 
of SFRS’s broader corporate governance arrangements 
and ensure that we are meeting our statutory obligation 
to have regard to HMFSI inspection reports, and taking 
action to continuously improve and transform the services 
we deliver to the communities of Scotland.
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Executive Directors
Executive Directors have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the risk management 
and internal control arrangements within their area of 
responsibility.  They provide me with a certificate of 
assurance covering a self-assessment of areas such as risk 
management, business planning, financial management, 
project management, procurement, human resources, 
security and health and safety.  The Directors, in turn 
receive individual certificates of assurance and supporting 
internal control checklists from their Deputies. During 
2015/16, this exercise culminated in a total of 20 
individual certificates of assurance being prepared. 

Using Internal Audit’s Assurance Categories to rate 
assurances provided by the Executive Directors and their 
Deputies, I can report that they have provided me with 
overall Reasonable Assurance that controls were operating 
effectively during the period under review.  Areas that 
require further development to improve internal controls 
have been identified and will be addressed by the relevant 
Executive Directors. 

Significant Issues
My review confirms that the SFRS has a generally sound 
system of risk management and internal control that 
supports the achievement of its policies and strategic aims 
and objectives. No significant issues have been identified. 

As part of our on-going work and our commitment to 
continuous improvement, we have identified areas for 
development in our risk management and internal controls 
arrangements.  These will therefore be addressed through 
specific action plans for relevant managers.

Accountable Officer
Alasdair Hay QFSM
Chief Officer

Organisation:
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

June 2016
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The sections marked “*” in this Remuneration Report 
have been audited by the SFRS’s external auditors, Grant 
Thornton UK LLP. The other sections of the Remuneration 
Report are reviewed by Grant Thornton UK LLP to ensure 
they are consistent with the financial statements.

Remuneration of Board Members
Fees for Non-executive Board Members are determined 
in accordance with guidelines prescribed by the Scottish 
Government – Public Sector Pay Policy for Senior 
Appointments. The normal term of office for a member is a 
period not exceeding 4 years. 

Board Member 2015/16 2014/15

  £000 £000

Pat Watters (Chair) 64 81

Robert Benson 14 22

James Campbell 12 25

Kirsty Darwent 20 25

Marieke Dwarshuis 16 25

Michael Foxley 20 22

Robin Iffla 15 24

Bill McQueen 23 25

Sid Patten 21 28

Neil Pirie 12 17

Martin Togneri 16 21

Grant Thoms 4 14

TOTAL 237 329

The average time spent on SFRS business was 90 days in 
2014/15 and 64 days in 2015/16. The time is expected to 
reduce in subsequent years, as the new body settles. 

The amounts paid to each Board Member are shown in the 
following table. 

Remuneration and Staff Report 
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*Remuneration of Senior Employees of the Board
Reporting bodies are required to disclose a single total figure for remuneration for each senior employee. 

The salary of senior uniformed employees is set by the National Joint Council for Brigade Managers.  Other benefits received 
by senior employees include those relating to transport and other ancillary expenses.  The salaries of other senior employees 
is currently set by CoSLA.

The salary, allowances, benefits in kind and pension related benefits of the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) are shown by 
band in the following table.

Name and Title

 

Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer 1                           

Alex Clark, Deputy Chief Officer 1             

David Boyle, Assistant Chief Officer 1   
(retiral 5 February 2016)

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer 1 

Peter Murray, Assistant Chief Officer 1 
(retiral 30 January 2016)

David Goodhew, Assistant Chief Officer 1 
(retiral 20 January 2016)

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer 1 

Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance and 
Contractual Services 2                   

Diane Vincent, Director of People and 
Organisational Development 2   

Mark McAteer, Director of Strategic 
Planning, Performance and 
Communications 2    
(Start date 1 March 2016)             

Salary Bands 
of £5000

£000s

165-170

130-135

105-110

125-130

100-105

100-105

125-130

100-105

100-105

5-10
(100-105)

Benefits In 
Kind 

 £s

3.2

1.8

1.6

0.8

1.6

3.9

2.0

7.8

3.5

0

Annual 
Performance- 

related 
Bonuses bands 

of £5000

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Long-term 
Performance- 

related 
Bonuses

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Pension-related 
Benefits - 

annual increase 
in pension 

entitlement 
bands of 

£2500

£000s

(30.0) - (32.5)

77.5 - 80.0

(230) - (232.5)

67.5 - 70.0

(232.5) - (235)

(247.5) - (250)

42.5 - 45.0

12.5 - 15.0

17.5 - 20.0

2.5 - 5.0

Total Bands 
of £5000

£000s

140 - 145

215 - 220

(120) - (125)

195 - 200

(125) - (130)

(140) - (145)

170 - 175

120 - 125

120 - 125

100 - 105

2015-16

1  denotes uniformed staff.
2  denotes support staff.
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The comparative 2014/15 figures are shown in the following table.

Name and Title

 

Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer 1                           

Alex Clark, Deputy Chief Officer 1             

David Boyle, Assistant Chief Officer 1   

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer 1 

Peter Murray, Assistant Chief Officer 1 

David Goodhew, Assistant Chief Officer 1 

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer 1 

Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance and 
Contractual Services 2                   

Diane Vincent, Director of People and 
Organisational Development 2                  

Salary Bands 
of £5000

£000s

165-170

130-135

120-125

120-125

120-125

120-125

120-125

100-105

100-105

Benefits In 
Kind 

 £s

3.3

1.9

9.1

0.9

0.8

3.5

2.3

8.0

4.9

Annual 
Performance- 

related 
Bonuses bands 

of £5000

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Long-term 
Performance- 

related 
Bonuses

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Pension-related 
Benefits - 

annual increase 
in pension 

entitlement 
bands of 

£2500

£000s

185.0-187.5

7.5-10.0

(62.5)-(65.0)

0-2.5

35.0-37.5

27.5-30.0

0 -2.5

32.5-35.0

25.0-27.5

Total Bands 
of £5000

£000s

355-360

140-145

65-70

125-130

160-165

155-160

125-130

145-150

130-135

2014-15

1  denotes uniformed staff.
2  denotes support staff.

Assistant Chief Officers D. Boyle, P. Murray and D. Goodhew retired during 2015/16 year which results in negative increase 
in pension benefits.  As the Director of Strategic Planning, Performance and Communications joined SFRS on 1 March 
2016, salary bands for full year equivalent figures are shown in brackets.
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*Employees Remuneration by Pay Band
The employees of the Service receiving more than 
£50,000 remuneration for the period (including those 
named above, but excluding employer’s pension 
contributions) were paid the following amounts:

 Remuneration Band £s 2015/16  2014/15
  Number of employees Number of employees

 50,000 - 54,999 106 96 

 55,000 - 59,999 61 72 

 60,000 - 64,999 36 32 

 65,000 - 69,999 16 15 

 70,000 - 74,999 7 9 

 75,000 - 79,999 6 5 

 80,000 - 84,999 5 2 

 85,000 - 89,999 1 0 

 90,000 - 94,999 0 0 

 95,000 - 99,999 0 0 

 100,000 - 104,999 0 0 

 105,000 - 109,999 5 1 

 110,000 - 114,999 0 1 

 115,000 - 119,999 0 0 

 120,000 - 124,999 0 1 

 125,000 - 129,999 2 3 

 130,000 - 134,999 0 1 

 135,000 - 139,999 1 1 

 165,000 - 169,999 0 1 

 170,000 - 174,999 1 0 

 TOTAL 247 240 
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*Ratio of Median Remuneration of All Staff Compared 
to Chief Officer’s Remuneration
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship 
between the remuneration of the highest-paid director 
in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce.

The table below includes the median remuneration of the 
SFRS staff, and the ratio between this and the mid-point 
of the highest paid director (the Chief Officer), including 
salary and benefits in kind.

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director 
in SFRS in the financial year 2015-16 was £171,300 
(£169,600 in 2014-15).  This was 5.69 times higher than 
the median remuneration of the workforce (5.73 in 2014-
15), which was £30,000 (£29,800 in 2014-15).

In 2015-16, none of the employees (nil in 2014-15) 
received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
director.  Remuneration ranged from £13,924 to £171,300 
(£11,830-£169,600 in 2014-15).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 
performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind.  It does 
not include severance payments, employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions.

   2015/16  2014/15
   £000s £000s

 Chief officer’s mid-point  170.7 170.8
 banded remuneration 
 including benefits in kind
 
 Median remuneration of staff  30.0 29.8

 Ratio 5.69 5.73

*Pension Benefits
The pension entitlements of Senior Employees for the 
period to 31 March 2016 are shown in the table overleaf, 
together with the contribution made by the Service to 
each Senior Employee’s pension during the period.  
Pension benefits for the Chief Officer and Assistant Chief 
Officers are provided through the Firemen’s Pension 
Scheme (FPS).  This is an unfunded scheme, meaning 
there are no investment assets built up to meet pension 
liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet actual 
pension payments as they eventually fall due.  The 
scheme’s normal retirement age is 55.

Pension benefits for the Director of Finance and 
Contractual Services, the Director of People and 
Organisational Development and the Director of Strategic 
Planning, Performance and Communications are provided 
through the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  
This is a final salary pension scheme, meaning pension 
benefits are based on the final year’s pay and the number 
of years during which that person has been a member of 
the scheme.  The scheme’s normal retirement age is 65.

The pension figures shown in the following table relate to 
the benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence 
of their pensionable service within the scheme, and not 
just their current appointment.  The disclosure requirement 
is to reflect pension benefits within bandings of £2,500, 
however only the top of the range is shown in the 
following tables. The asterisk (*) denotes members of the 
LGPS, the others are members of the Firemen’s Pension 
Scheme.
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Name

 
Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer 

Alex Clark, Deputy Chief Officer

David Boyle, Assistant Chief Officer 

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer

Peter Murray, Assistant Chief Officer 

David Goodhew, Assistant Chief Officer

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer

*Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance 
and Contractual Services 

*Diane Vincent, Director of People and 
Organisational Development

*Mark McAteer, Director of 
Strategic Planning, Performance and 
Communications              

Pension

£000s

112.5

90.0

72.5

85.0

70.0

67.5

80.0

37.5

30.0

2.5

At 
31 March 2016

£000s

2,364 

1,301 

1,128 

1,258 

1,476 

1,382 

1,109 

542 

416

2 

At 
31 March 2015

£000s

2,377 

1,179 

1,246 

1,144 

1,712 

1,632

 
1,020 

509 

383

0 

Real 
increase 

£000s

(41)

 
108 

(133)

 
100

 
(257) 

(269)

 
76 

27 

28

2 

Accrued Benefitst 
age 60 at 

31 March 2016

Lump 
Sum

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

75.0

50.0

0

Pension

£000s

(2.5)

7.5

(12.5)

5.0

(12.5)

(12.5)

5.0

2.5

2.5

2.5

Lump 
Sum

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(2.5)

(2.5)

0

Cash Equivalent Transfer ValueReal increases 
as at 

31 March 2016



Annual Report and Accounts 2015-2016 62

The table above shows comparative figures for 2014/15 year. The Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (CETV) as at 31 March 
2015 for Mr Hay, Mr Goodhew and Mr Murray are different as new factors were introduced during the year and applied by 
the SPPA.

Notes
1) The employer’s contribution rate for the FPS is 29.6% of 
pensionable pay.  The employer’s contribution for those in 
the LGPS is 19.3% of pensionable pay in 2015/16 (21.8% 
and 19.3% in 2014/15).

2) The Firemen’s Pension Scheme and LGPS have different 
contribution rates and different benefits.  The uniformed 
officers’ pension benefits are presented as unreduced 
pension benefits, i.e. there is no automatic lump sum, as 
members have the option not to commute an element of 
their annual pension until the point at which they retire. 
Benefits accrue on a 1/60th basis per year, which increases 
to 2/60ths per year when the employee reaches 20 years 

of service.  An employee can elect to commute, or give 
up, up to 25% of their annual pension in order to receive a 
lump sum.  For example, an officer aged 50 with 30 years 
of service would receive a lump sum of £22,400 for every 
£1,000 annual pension commuted, although this figure is 
variable dependent on age and service.  The employee 
contribution rates are tiered based on salary; those noted 
above contributed 17% of their salary in 2015/16.

3) Assistant Chief Officers D. Boyle, P. Murray and D. 
Goodhew retired during 2015/16 year which results in 
negative increase in pension figures. 
 

Name

 
Alasdair Hay, Chief Officer 

Alex Clark, Deputy Chief Officer

David Boyle, Assistant Chief Officer 

Robert Scott, Assistant Chief Officer

Peter Murray, Assistant Chief Officer 

David Goodhew, Assistant Chief Officer

Lewis Ramsay, Assistant Chief Officer

*Sarah O’Donnell, Director of Finance 
and Contractual Services 

*Diane Vincent, Director of People and 
Organisational Development

Pension

£000s

112.5

85.0

82.5

80.0

80.0

77.5

75.0

37.5

27.5

At 
31 March 2015

£000s

2,546 

1,179 

1,246 

1,144 

1,834 

1,752 

1,020 

509 

383

At 
31 March 2014

£000s

2,292 

1,094 

1,136 

1,068 

1,743 

1,674

 
951 

457 

344

Real 
increase 

£000s

192

 
55

79

 
47

 
44 

33

 
43 

39 

30

Accrued Benefitst 
age 60 at 

31 March 2015

Lump 
Sum

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

75.0

50.0

Pension

£000s

12.5

2.5

(2.5)

2.5

5.0

5.0

2.5

2.5

2.5

Lump 
Sum

£000s

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2.5

2.5

Cash Equivalent Transfer ValueReal increases 
as at 

31 March 2015
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The accrued pension benefits for the Director of Finance 
and Contractual Services and Director of People and 
Organisational Development, who are members of the 
LGPS, include elements for both lump sum and annual 
pension, having joined the LGPS before 1 April 2009.  

This guarantees a pension based on 1/80th accrual rate, 
and a lump sum based on 3/80th of final pensionable 
salary and years of pensionable service prior to this 
date.  The conditions of the LGPS changed with effect 
from 1 April 2009, after which benefits are accrued on 
1/60th basis with no automatic right to a lump sum.  The 
employee may however, elect to reduce their annual 
pension to receive a lump sum in the same manner as 
members of the Firefighters Pension Schemes.  For 
example, an employee would receive a lump sum of 
£12,000 for every £1,000 annual pension commuted, 
irrespective of age or service. The Director of Strategic 
Planning, Performance and Communications joined the 
LGPS in March 2016 (on appointment to new role).

The employee contribution rates are tiered based on 
salary; those noted above contribute 9.9% of their salary in 
2015/16.

Exit Packages
The following table shows the number of exit packages, 
all of which were voluntary, agreed at each cost band. 
The total cost includes redundancy payments and strain 
on pension fund costs. Strain on pension fund represents 
a payment to the pension fund for the increased costs 
associated with the exit package.

There were no new exit packages in 2015/16.

2015-16

Exit package  
cost  band

£0 - £20,000

£20,000 - £40,000

£40,001 - £60,000

£60,001 - £80,000

£80,001 - £100,000

£100,001 - £120,000

£120,001 - £140,000

£140,001 - £160,000

£160,001 - £180,000

£180,001 - £200,000

£200,001 - £220,000

£221,001 - £240,000

TOTAL

2014-15

Number of voluntary 
severance packages

 2 

 2 

 1 

 - 

 - 

 -

 - 

-

-

-

-

-

5

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band (£000s)

9 

 45 

 41 

 - 

- 

 - 

 - 

-

-

-

-

-

95

Number of voluntary 
severance packages

 31 

 16 

 9

 2 

 8 

 4

 6 

1

-

-

-

-

77

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band (£000s)

308 

 447 

 468 

 150 

714 

 427 

 773 

143

-

-

-

-

3,430
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Off-payroll Engagements
The table below shows all off-payroll engagements, or 
those that reached six months in duration, within 2014/15 
and 2015/16 financial years, for more than £220 per day 
and that last for longer than six months.

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
(between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015)

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the department the 
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

Number for whom assurance has been requested

Of which: 

assurance has been received 
assurance has not been received 
engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility, during the year

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure 
includes both off-payroll 
and on-payroll engagements

8

0

8

8
0
0

0

0

2014-15

Alasdair Hay
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer

29 October 2015

1

0

1

1
0
0

0

0

2015-16
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of the 
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service, the Auditor General 
for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament

We have audited the financial statements of the Scottish 
Fire and Rescue Service (the Service) for the year ended 31 
March 2016 under the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) 
Act 2012.  The financial statements comprise Statement of 
Financial Position, the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement 
of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and the related notes.  The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2015/16 
FReM).

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is 
addressed in accordance with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other 
purpose.  In accordance with paragraph 125 of the Code 
of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for 
Scotland, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to 
members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to 
third parties.

Respective responsibilities of Chief Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of the 
Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities the Chief Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 
and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of 
expenditure and income.  Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) as required by the 
Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General 
for Scotland.  Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.  We are also responsible for giving an opinion on 
the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance 
with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 
2000.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the body’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Chief Officer; and 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.  It 
also involves obtaining evidence about the regularity of 
expenditure and income.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report and Accounts to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that 
is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the 
course of performing the audit.  If we become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements, irregularities, 
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

 • give a true and fair view in accordance with the  
  Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 and  
  directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers  
  of the state of the body’s affairs as at 31 March 2016  
  and of its net operating cost for the year then ended;

 • have been properly prepared in accordance with  
  IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as  
  interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16 FReM; and

 • have been prepared in accordance with the  
  requirements of the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland)  
  Act 2012 and directions made thereunder by the  
  Scottish Ministers.

Independent Auditors Report 
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Opinion on regularity

In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure 
and income in the financial statements were incurred or 
applied in accordance with any applicable enactments 
and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers.

Opinion on other prescribed matters

In our opinion:

 • the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be  
  audited has been properly prepared in accordance  
  with the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012  
  and directions made thereunder by the Scottish  
  Ministers; and

 • the information given in the Performance Report and  
  Accountability Report for the financial year for which  
  the financial statements are prepared is consistent   
  with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

 • adequate accounting records have not been kept; or
 
 • the financial statements and the part of the   
  Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited are not  
  in agreement with the accounting records; or
 
 • we have not received all the information and  
  explanations we require for our audit; or

 • the Governance Statement does not comply with  
  guidance from the Scottish Ministers.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Robin Baker, 
(for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP)
Level 8
110 Queen Street
Glasgow
G1 3BX

27th October 2016
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for Year Ended 31 March 2016

      
  Note Year ended Year ended
   31 March 2016  31 March 2015
   £000s £000s

Expenditure   

Staff costs 4 374,886 336,215

Depreciation and Impairment 25 23,163 26,395

Other Operating Charges 3 48,644 49,914

   446,693 412,524

Income   

Income from activities 6 (630) (484)

Other Income 7 (142,927) (121,575)

   (143,557) (122,059)

Net Expenditure from Operating Activities  303,136 290,465

Interest payable 8 3,920 4,075

Interest receivable 9 (123) 0

Net gain on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment  (53) (12)

Net interest cost of IAS19 assets and liabilities 14 121,091 135,567

  

   124,835 139,630

   

Net Expenditure after Interest  427,971 430,095

   

Taxation 12 4 4

Net Expenditure after Taxation  427,975 430,099

   

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   

Actuarial gain on IAS19 Pension disclosures  14 (804,431) 486,267

Net gain on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 25 (11,722) (31,660)

Comprehensive Net (Income)/Expenditure before Grant from  (388,178) 884,706
the Scottish Government
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2016

  Note As at 31 As at 31
   March 2016 March 2015
   £000s £000s
 
 ASSETS
 Non-current assets   

 Property, Plant and Equipment 25 521,756 519,755

 Heritage Assets 25 933 933

 Intangible Assets 25 1,297 2,295

 Long-term debtors 21 4,631 196

 Total non-current assets  528,617 523,179

 Current assets   

 Assets classified as held for sale 29 13,177 280

 Inventories 22 1,479 1,396

 Trade and other receivables 10 7,367 12,236

 Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,169 1,580

 Total current assets  23,192 15,492

 Total assets  551,809 538,671

 LIABILITIES

 Current liabilities   

 Trade and other payables 11 28,420 28,586

 Short-term provisions 17 1,596 2,343

 Short-term borrowing 24 2,115 5,754

 Total current liabilities  32,131 36,683

 Total assets less current liabilities  519,678 502,013

 Non-current liabilities   

 Long-term borrowing 24 62,436 63,947

 Long-term provisions 17 870 795

 Other long-term liabilities 30 0 1,629

 Other long-term liabilities (Pensions) 14 3,044,115 3,555,421

 Other long-term liabilities (Injury Benefits) 14 69,062 212,262

 Total non-current liabilities  3,176,483 3,834,054

 Total Assets less liabilities  (2,656,805) (3,332,066)

 Taxpayers equity   

 General Reserve  293,719 284,618

 Revaluation Reserve  162,653 150,999

 Pensions Reserve 14 (3,113,177) (3,767,683)

 Total Taxpayers Equity  (2,656,805) (3,332,066)

Alasdair Hay
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer

The Accounting Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 27 October 2016.  
The notes on pages 72 to 112 form part of these accounts.  
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2016 

  Note Year ended Year ended
   31 March 2016 31 March 2015
   £000s £000s

Cash flows from operating activities   

Net deficit from operating activities  (303,136) (290,465)  

IAS19 Pensions  28,834 5,976

Depreciation and Impairments 25 23,163 26,395

Interest received 9 123 0

Decrease in trade and other receivables 10 4,869 198

Increase in inventories 22 (83) 433

Increase in long term debtors 21 (4,435) 24

Decrease in trade and other payables 11 (166) (12,413)

Decrease in other long term payables 30 (1,629) 1,627

Decrease in provisions 17 (672) (2,455)

   

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (253,132) (270,680)

   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 25 (25,845) (24,123)

Proceeds of disposals of property, plant and equipment  552 925

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (25,293) (23,198)

   

Cash flows from financing activities   

Grant in Aid from the Scottish Government 20 287,083 305,175

Repayment of borrowing 24 (5,149) (5,606)

Bank interest paid 24 (3,920) (4,075)

Net cash inflow from financing activities  278,014 295,494

   

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (411) 1,616

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 13 1,580 (36)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 13 1,169 1,580

(Decrease) / increase in cash for the period  (411) 1,616
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Statement of Changes in taxpayers Equity for year ended 31 March 2016 

71

  Note General  Revaluation  Pensions  Total
   Fund Reserve Reserve
   £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Balance at 31 March 2015  284,618 150,999 (3,767,683) (3,332,066)

 Net Expenditure (deficit)   (427,975) 0 0 (427,975)
 for the period

 Transfer of pensions transactions to 14 149,925 0 (149,925) 0
 the Pensions Reserve

 Grant in Aid from the Scottish Government 20 287,083 0 0 287,083

 IAS19 Pensions Remeasurement Gains 14 0 0 804,431 804,431

 Revaluations credited to the 25 0 11,722 0 11,722
 Revaluation Reserve

 Other Reserve Movement  68 (68) 0 0

 Balance at 31 March 2016  293,719 162,653 (3,113,177) (2,656,805)

    

  Note General  Revaluation  Pensions  Total
   Fund Reserve Reserve
   £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Balance at 31 March 2014  267,749 119,589 (3,139,873) (2,752,535)

Net Expenditure (deficit)   (430,099) 0 0 (430,099)
 for the period

 Transfer of pensions transactions to 14 141,543 0 (141,543) 0
 the Pensions Reserve

 Grant in Aid from the Scottish Government 20 305,175 0 0 305,175

 IAS19 Pensions Remeasurement Losses 14 0 0 (486,267) (486,267)

 Revaluations credited to the 25 0 31,660 0 31,660
 Revaluation Reserve

 Other Reserve Movement  250 (250) 0 0

 Balance at 31 March 2015  284,618 150,999 (3,767,683) (3,332,066)
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1.  Accounting Policies 
These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the 2015/16 Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury.  The 
accounting policies contained in the FReM apply 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adapted or interpreted for the public sector context.  
Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, 
the accounting policy and, where necessary, estimation 
technique which is judged to be most appropriate to the 
particular circumstances of the SFRS for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view has been selected. 

The particular policies adopted by the SFRS in preparing 
these financial statements are described below.  They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items that are 
considered material to the accounts.

The Accounts have been prepared with reference to the 
following objectives:

 • to provide information about the financial position,  
  performance and cash flows in a way that meets the  
  “common need of most users”, and
 • to show the results of the stewardship and  
  accountability of elected members and management  
  for the resources entrusted to them.

The following underlying assumptions have also been 
adhered to:
 
 • Accruals – with the exception of cash flow  
  information, the statements have been prepared  
  using the accrual basis of accounting, where the non- 
  cash effects of transactions are included in the  
  financial statements in the year in which they occur,  
  not the year in which cash is paid or received, and
 • Going concern – the accounts have been prepared  
  on the basis that the SFRS will continue to function for  
  the foreseeable future.

Application of Accounting Standards issued but have 
not yet been adopted
As noted above, these financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the FReM issued by HM 
Treasury.  The FReM applies IFRS as adapted or interpreted 
for the public sector context, but does not require the 
following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 
year ended 31 March 2016,  which will be considered for 
application during financial year 2016/17.

IFRS5: Non-current Assets held for sale and Discontinued 
Operations: Change in methods of disposal,
IAS19 Employee Benefits – Discount rate: regional market 
issue,
IAS1 – Disclosure Initiative,
IAS16 and IAS38 – Clarification of acceptable methods of 
depreciation and amortisation

The application of the Standards as revised would not 
have a material impact on the accounts year ended 31 
March 2016 if applied in that year.
 
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment.

Accounting Period
The accounting period commenced on 1 April 2015 and 
ended on 31 March 2016.

Going Concern
The Resource Budget for financial year ended 31 March 
2016 has been approved by the Scottish Government 
and is considered adequate to allow the SFRS to meet 
its liabilities in the foreseeable future.  These financial 
statements have therefore been produced on a going 
concern basis.

To the extent that the pension deficits are not met from 
SFRS sources of income it may only be met by future Grant 
in Aid from the sponsoring department, the Directorate 
for Safer Communities.  This is because, under the normal 
conventions applying to parliamentary control over 
income and expenditure, such grants may not be paid in 
advance of need.

Segmental Reporting
The SFRS is operated as a single service and is also 
reported in this same format. Costs and support service 
overheads are not allocated to other parts of the 
organisation, and therefore there are no requirements for 
segmental reporting, however, a reconciliation between 
the management accounts position and the accounting 
statements is included in the Notes to the Accounts.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised net of VAT to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the SFRS 
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Notes to the Annual Accounts 
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Grant in Aid and Revenue Grants
SFRS is funded by the Scottish Government.  Grant in Aid 
is received throughout the year and is intended to meet 
SFRS estimated expenditure for both capital and revenue 
purposes.  It is accounted for as financing on a cash basis, 
not income, and is therefore credited to SFRS reserves and 
not incorporated within the SoCNE.  Grant in Aid cannot 
be drawn down in advance of need.

Grants in aid, whether for revenue or capital purposes, 
are to be treated as contributions from controlling parties 
giving rise to a financial interest in the residual interest 
of the reporting entity, and are to be credited to general 
reserves and not to income or deferred income.

Where grants are subject to conditions such that non-
compliance would result in the grant being repaid, the 
potential liability to repay, and the conditions to be met, 
should be disclosed in a note to the accounts.

The profit or loss on disposal of an asset financed by grant 
or grant-in-aid is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure.

Capital Grants
Capital grants are accounted for in accordance with IAS20 
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance, and recognised in the SoCNE 
once conditions are met.  Grant is treated as a capital grant 
received in advance where carry forward is permitted and 
any conditions have not been met.

Provision of Services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when 
the SFRS can measure reliably the percentage completion 
of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the transaction will 
flow to the SFRS.

Rental Income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the terms of the lease.

Expenditure Recognition
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are 
consumed – where there is a gap between the date 
supplies are received and their consumption, they are 
carried as inventories on the Statement of Financial 
Position (SoFP).

Expenses in relation to services received (including 
those rendered by the SFRS employees) are recorded as 
expenditure when the services are received, rather than 
when payments are made.

Interest payable on borrowings is accounted for on the 
cash flows that have been fixed or determined by the 
contract, or based on an annuity basis where borrowings 
have been provided by a local authority.

Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised 
but cash has not been received or paid, a receivable or 
payable for the relevant amount is recorded in the SoFP.  
Where there is evidence that debts are unlikely to be 
settled, the balance of receivables is written down and a 
charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
collected.

Benefits Payable During Employment
Short-term employee benefits (those that fall due wholly 
within 12 months of the year end), such as wages and 
salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses 
and non-monetary benefits for current employees, are 
recognised as an expense in the year in which employees 
render service to the SFRS.  An accrual is made in the 
SoCNE for the year for the cost of holiday entitlements 
and other forms of leave earned by employees but not 
taken before the year end and which employees can carry 
forward to the next financial year.  The accrual is made at 
the remuneration rates applicable in the following financial 
year.

Post Employment Benefits
As at 31 March 2016, the SFRS participates in four 
pension schemes, the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Scotland) for support staff, the Firefighter’s Pension 
Scheme 1992, New Firefighters Pension Scheme 2006 
and the Fire 2015 Scheme for Wholetime/Retained 
uniformed personnel.  For year ended 31 March 2016, the 
administration of Firefighters’ Schemes was undertaken 
by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPA) and the 
administration of LGPS remained with local authorities.
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 • Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland)
  The LGPS provides members with defined benefits  
  related to pay and service.  It is supported by  
  contributions from both employer and employee.  
  There are 8 schemes covering staff in Scotland,  
  administered by the local authorities noted above.  
  In April 2015, the LGPS became a Career Average  
  Revalued Earnings (CARE) Scheme whereby pension  
  benefits are based on earnings received within  
  each year worked, which are index linked and  
  totalled on retirement to provide an annual pension

 • Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992
  The Firefighter’s Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS) is a final  
  salary unfunded defined benefit scheme where   
  payments are made on a “pay as you go” basis.    
  This is funded through contributions from    
  employees, the SFRS and the Scottish Government.
 
 • New Firefighters Pension Scheme 2006
  The new Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS)  
  was introduced on 6 April 2006, and is also  
  a final salary unfunded defined benefit scheme,   
  similar to the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme, the   
  differences being a lower contribution rate and   
  different retirement criteria. Funding is providedin   
  the same way as the FPS. A recent development   
  within this Scheme has been to allow retained   
  firefighters who were employed by the Service   
  between 1 July 2000 and 5 April 2006, access to   
  this Scheme to provide them with comparable   
  pension benefits to those enjoyed by wholetime   
  firefighters during this period. Those individuals
   who were employed between these dates are   
  now eligible to purchase pension rights under the
   terms of these new pension arrangements.  This   
  sub Scheme is known as the Retained Duty System   
  (RDS) Modified Pension Scheme.  

 • Fire 2015 Scheme
  The Fire 2015 Scheme was introduced on 1 April  
  2015 and is a CARE scheme rather than a final  
  salary pension scheme. Funding is provided in the   
  same way as the FPS.  All new employees entering  
  the Service will join this Scheme automatically.   
  Under the new arrangements the normal pension  
  age for firefighters will be 60 which reflects the  
  current retirement age for the 2006 Scheme. 
  Firefighters who were previously in the 1992 or  
  2006 Schemes joined the 2015 Scheme  

  automatically on 1 April 2015 where no protection  
  was in place. A further group have transferred to  
  this scheme, or will transfer, between now and  
  2022 depending on their individual circumstances.   
  The remaining group of firefighters will remain in their  
  existing schemes.

Contributions to the schemes are calculated to spread 
the cost of pensions over employees working lives, in 
line with IAS19 Employee Benefits.  The contributions 
are determined by an actuary on the basis of triennial 
valuations using the Age Attained Method and, in the 
intervening years, by rolling forward the scheme assets 
and liabilities in a desk top review.  

Variations from regular cost are spread over the expected 
average remaining working lives of scheme members, 
taking into account future withdrawals.  The expected 
cost of providing staff pensions to contributing employees 
is recognised in the SoCNE in accordance with IAS19, 
recognising retirement benefits as they are earned not 
when they are due to be paid.

Pension Scheme Assets
The FPS, NFPS and Fire 2015 Schemes, being unfunded, 
have no assets built up to meet pension liabilities.  The 
attributable assets of the various Local Government 
Pension Schemes (LGPS) have been measured at fair value 
and are identified in the Notes to the Accounts.

Pension Scheme Liabilities
The attributable liabilities of each scheme are measured 
on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method 
– i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by 
employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates, etc.

The change in the Net Pension Liability shown in the SoFP 
consists of the following:

Current Service Cost
This refers to the increase in liabilities as a result of years 
of service earned this year and is allocated to the cost of 
services in the SoCNE.

Expected Net Return on Assets
The expected annual investment return on assets for the 
LGPS is based on long-term expectations as at 31 March 
2016.   
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services, for 
rental to others or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year 
are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.

Asset Recognition
All expenditure on the acquisition, creation or 
enhancement of property, plant and equipment has 
been capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it 
is probable that the future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the SFRS and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure 
that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to 
deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. 
repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when 
it is incurred.

Asset Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:

 • the purchase price,
 • any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the   
  location and condition necessary for it to be capable  
  of operating in the manner intended by    
  management,
 • the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and  
  removing the item and restoring the site on which it is  
  located.

Land and Buildings are included at Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (DRC) where there is no market-based 
evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of 
the assets.  In all other cases, Existing Use Value (EUV) 
has been used.  As a minimum, five yearly valuations of 
Land and Buildings are carried out as part of a rolling 
programme, on the basis of current market value for 
land and depreciated replacement cost for buildings.  In 
addition, impairment reviews are carried out on major 
assets, and assets on which there has been significant 
spend, to determine if there has been any change in value 
in the years between valuations.

Assets included in the SOFP at fair value are revalued 
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not 
materially different from their fair value at the year-end, 
but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in valuations 
are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to 
recognise unrealised gains.

This is shown net of the interest cost of each scheme, 
based on the discount rate and the present value of the 
scheme liabilities as at 31 March 2016.

Past Service Costs
This refers to the increase in liabilities arising from current 
year decisions whose effect relates to years of service 
earned in previous years.  This is debited to the surplus/
deficit on the SoCNE.

Gains/Losses on Settlements and Curtailments
The result of actions to relieve the SFRS of liabilities or 
events that reduce the expected future service or accrual 
of benefits of employees – debited/credited to the 
SoCNE.

Actuarial Gains and Losses
Changes in the net pensions liability that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at 
the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have 
updated their assumptions – debited to the Pensions 
Reserve.

Contributions Paid to the LGPS Pension Funds
Cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension 
fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an 
expense.

Discretionary Benefits
The SFRS also has restricted powers to make discretionary 
awards of retirement benefits in the event of early 
retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of 
an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of 
the decision to make the award, and accounted for using 
the same policies as those applied to the relevant pension 
schemes.

Injury Awards
The SFRS also has powers to make awards of injury 
benefits in the event of firefighters leaving through injury. 
Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to 
any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision 
to make the award and accounted for using the same 
policies as those applied to the relevant compensation 
schemes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and 
deposits held with banks.
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At 31 March 2016, all land, buildings and dwellings assets 
due for valuation under the five year rolling programme, 
were re-valued by the SFRS’s in-house Estates and 
Valuations Surveyor, Russell Munn (BSC MRICS). Where 
decreases in value are identified, the revaluation loss is 
accounted for:

 • where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the  
  asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount  
  of the asset is written down against that balance (up  
  to the amount of the accumulated gains),
 • where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve  
  or insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the  
  asset is written down against the relevant line in the  
  SoCNE.
 • The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains  
  recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its  
  formal implementation.

Donated Assets
Assets classified as donated are measured at fair value on 
receipt.  The funding element is recognised as income 
and taken to the SoCNE.  Any subsequent revaluations are 
taken to the Revaluation Reserve.  

Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  
Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for 
the shortfall.

Where impairment losses are identified, they are 
accounted for:

 • where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the  
  asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount  
  of the asset is written down against that balance (up  
  to the amount of the accumulated gains),
 • where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve  
  or insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the  
  asset is written down against the relevant line in the  
  SoCNE.
 • Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently,  
  the reversal is credited to the relevant line in the  
  SoCNE, up to the amount of the original loss,  
  adjusted for depreciation that would have been  
  charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Disposals
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount 
of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued 
immediately before reclassification and then carried at the 
lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Where 
there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to 
sell, the loss is posted to Other Operating Charges in the 
SoCNE.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the 
amount of any previously recognised losses.  Depreciation 
is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not 
reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the 
carrying amount of the asset in the SoFP (whether Property, 
Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to the Other Operating Charges line in the SoCNE as part 
of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals (if 
any) are credited to the same line in the SoCNE also as part 
of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).

Assets Held for Sale
An asset is classified as held for sale when it meets all of the 
following criteria:

 • It is available for immediate sale,
 • A plan agreed by management is in place and steps  
  are actively being taken to conclude a sale, and
 • It is actively being marketed with an expectation of a  
  sale within the next 12 months.

Assets meeting these criteria are revalued and measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount immediately prior to 
reclassification and fair value less costs to sell.  There is no 
depreciation on assets held for sale.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and 
Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their 
depreciable amounts on a straight line basis over their 
useful lives.  An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land, Heritage 
Assets and assets held for sale) and assets that are not yet 
available for use (i.e. assets under construction).
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Useful economic lives as estimated by experts are as 
follows:

Assets under construction are recognised at cost and not 
depreciated until the asset is brought into use.

Componentisation
In accordance with IAS16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
a componentisation policy for material assets has 
been adopted with effect from 1 April 2013.  SFRS will 
componentise material assets with a carrying value over 
£0.5 million, unless, in the expert opinion of our professional 
valuer, it does not lend itself to componentisation by its 
complex nature.  This will be carried out where material assets 
are acquired, revalued or enhanced.

The SFRS policy noted above has been applied to all 
relevant assets brought on from legacy services and will 
continue to be applied as they are revalued through the 
five year rolling programme of valuations.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets have no physical substance but are 
identifiable and controlled by the SFRS.  It can be 
established that there is an economic benefit or service 
potential associated with the item which will flow to the 
SFRS.  This expenditure is mainly in relation to software 
licenses purchased by legacy services.  Expenditure on 
the acquisition, creation or enhancement of intangible 
assets is capitalised on an accruals basis when it will bring 
benefits of longer than one year.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and 
included in the SoFP at net historical cost.  Intangible 
assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the life 
of the asset.  

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms 
of the lease transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases 

are classified as operating leases.

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land 
and building elements are considered separately for 
classification.

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease 
but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are 
accounted for under this policy, where fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets.

Operating Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the 
SoCNE on a straight-line basis, over the term of the lease.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that 
gives the Board a legal or constructive obligation that 
probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place 
that gives the SFRS a possible obligation whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the SFRS.  Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably.  Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
SoFP but disclosed in a note to the accounts.

Reserves
The General Reserve represents the excess of expenditure 
over income on grant in aid funded operations, or other 
grant income streams, e.g. transitional funding.

The Revaluation Reserve represents the increase in value of 
land and buildings over their historical costs.

taxation
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent 
that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue 
and Customs (HMRC).  VAT receivable is excluded from 
income. Corporation Tax is payable on profit generated 
from business activities undertaken by SFRS.  Income from 
GiA is not subject to Corporation Tax.
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 Category Useful economic life

 Buildings 10-64 years

 Cars & Vans 5 years

 Fire Appliances (including specialist appliances) 10-15 years

 Equipment 3-20 years
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  authorities showing total outstanding debt, amounts  
  of principal repayable each year, and indicative  
  amounts of related interest payable each year.  The  
  interest is calculated by each former lead authority  
  using a pooled interest rate which is applied to all  
  loans in their portfolio.

  In these cases, financial liabilities are shown in the  
  SoFP at the values provided by the former lead  
  authorities.  Annual charges to the SoCNE for  
  interest payable are based on the carrying amount of  
  the liability multiplied by the effective rate of interest  
  for the instrument, as calculated by each former lead  
  authority.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Review of Accounting Policies and Estimation 
techniques
These financial statements have been prepared under 
IFRS incorporating any departures required by the FReM, 
and all accounting policies have been reviewed to ensure 
their continued relevance. Estimates and judgements 
are regularly evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and underlying assumptions are continuously 
reviewed.

The main areas of estimation relate to the following:
 
 • The valuation of land and buildings, where the  
  services of professionally qualified surveyors are used  
  to ensure that best practice and consistency of  
  approach is applied, and

 • The valuation of Pension Scheme assets and  
  liabilities, where professionally qualified actuaries  
  are employed to provide the information required  
  under IAS19 Employee Benefits.

Financial Instruments

Financial Assets
Financial assets held by the SFRS consist of Trade and 
Other Receivables and Cash and Cash Equivalents.  Trade 
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. 

As the Cash requirements of the SFRS are met through 
Grant-in-Aid provided by the Directorate for Safer 
Communities, financial instruments play a more limited 
role in creating and managing risk than would apply to 
a non-public sector body.  Cash balances are held with 
the Government Banking Service (GBS) and SFRS is not 
therefore exposed to significant credit, liquidity or market 
risk in respect of financial assets.  There is no difference 
between book value and fair value for cash and cash 
equivalents shown in the SoFP.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities within the SFRS consist of Trade and 
Other Payables, and Borrowings. Trade payables are 
held at fair value, and are typically non-derivative financial 
liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market.  They arise when SFRS receives 
goods or services with no intention of trading the liability. 

There are two types of Borrowings held by the SFRS:

 i) Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans were taken  
  out by legacy services that carried out the Treasury  
  Management function (i.e. borrowings and  
  investments) in their own right.  These are recognised  
  on the SoFP at the point when the SFRS becomes a  
  party to the contractual provisions of a financial  
  instrument and are initially measured at fair value  
  and carried at their amortised cost, i.e. including  
  accrued interest.  
  
  For borrowings held by the SFRS therefore, the 
  amount presented on the SoFP is the outstanding  
  principal repayable including accrued interest, and  
  annual charges to the SoCNE for interest payable is  
  the amount payable in the year on an accruals basis.

 ii) The second type of financial liability arises where the  
  Treasury Management function for legacy Fire  
  Services was carried out by the lead authority.   
  Schedules have been provided by the lead  



Working together for a safer Scotland

Changes in Accounting Estimates
Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected 
by the change. 

Events after the Reporting Period
Events after the reporting period end represent those 
events which occur between the end of the reporting 
period and the date when the Annual Report and 
Accounts are authorised for issue.  

Material events for which conditions exist at 31 March are 
reflected on an accruals basis within the financial year.   The 
Notes to the Accounts contain details of material events 
where their conditions did not exist as at 31 March. 

Inventories
Inventories are included in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the lower of cost or net realisable value on an 
average cost basis.
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2. Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the SFRS about the future 
or that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other 
relevant factors.  However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates.

The SFRS SoFP contains the following item for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming 
year:

Item

Property, Plant and Equipment

Pensions liability

Short Term Accumulated 
Absences

Uncertainties

Assets are depreciated over useful lives 
that are dependent on assumptions about 
the level of repairs and maintenance that 
will be incurred in relation to individual 
assets.  The current economic climate 
makes it uncertain that the Board will be 
able to sustain its current spending on 
repairs and maintenance, bringing into 
doubt the useful lives assigned to assets.

Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, the rate at which 
salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement age, mortality rates 
and expected returns on pension fund 
assets.  Consulting actuaries are engaged 
to provide the Board with expert advice 
about the assumptions to be applied.

This relates to the value of annual leave 
that is either owed to or by employees 
at the end of the financial year.  This is 
calculated by extrapolating from a sample 
taken of a number of locations and 
employee types.

Effect if actual result differs from 
assumptions

If the useful life of assets is reduced, 
depreciation materially increases and the 
carrying amount of the assets falls.

The effects on the net pension liability of 
changes in individual assumptions can be 
measured.  For instance, a 0.1% decrease in 
the discount rate assumption would result in 
a decrease in the pension liability of £55.550 
million.  An increase of 1 year in life expectancy, 
and a 0.1% increase in the salary rate and the 
pension rate would increase the liability by 
£87.031 million, £8.041 million and £45.535 
million respectively.

If the level of actual annual leave owed to 
staff is higher than estimated, there would 
be an increased charge to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Expenditure.

80



Working together for a safer Scotland

3. Other Operating Charges

  Year ended  Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
    £000s   £000s 

Property Costs 20,939 20,622

Supplies and Services 18,426 20,158

Transport Costs 9,147 8,972

External Auditors 95 115

Transport Costs - Members 37 47

Total 48,644 49,914

4. Staff Numbers and Related Costs

The average number of persons employed in the year ended 31 March 2016 was 8,190 (8,333 in previous year). 
Staff costs are shown in the following table:

Note that the total of £0.946 million shown under “Others” for year ended 31 March 2016, (£0.849 million for year 
ended 31 March 2015) represents the costs of staff employed on temporary contracts through employment agencies.  
The increase in Other Pension Costs of £21.099 million is primarily due to the impact of retrospective adjustments to 
Firefighter pension lump sums following a decision by the Pensions Ombudsman to increase commutation factors for those 
who retired between 1998 and 2006.  This is known as the Milne Case.  Pension schemes were also opened to part time 
firefighters during the year which led to an increase in employer contributions.

   Year ended 31 March 2016                           Year ended 31 March 2015
  Permanent Others Total Permanent Others Total
   £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Wages and Salaries 178,270 0 178,270 181,581 0 181,581

Other Pension Costs 145,584 0 145,584 124,485 0 124,485

Social Security Costs 12,844 0 12,844 13,163 0 13,163

Sub-total 336,698 0 336,698 319,229 0 319,229

      
IAS19 pension costs  28,834 0 28,834 5,976 0 5,976
charged to net expenditure      

Other staff related costs 8,408 946 9,354 10,161 849 11,010

 Total net costs 373,940 946 374,886 335,366 849 336,215
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6.  Income from Activities

  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s

 Fees and Charges (629) (472) 

 Training Course Income (1) (12) 

 Total (630) (484) 

5.  Reconciliation of Net Resource Expenditure
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  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s

Staff costs 202,937 208,691 

Other Operating Charges 52,445 53,992 

Total Expenditure 255,382 262,683 

Income (1,109) (1,325) 

Net Expenditure for year 254,273 261,358 

Reconciliation to annual accounts:  

Less:  

Impairments and Revaluations charged to the Revaluation Reserve (11,722) (31,660) 

Net Pensions Account (5) 2 

Gain on sale of assets (53) (12) 

Add:  

Remeasurement gain on Pension Schemes (804,431) 486,267 

Pensions Interest adjustment 149,925 141,544 

Depreciation and Impairment 23,163 26,395 

Provisions 672 812 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (388,178) 884,706 
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7.  Other Income

8.  Interest Payable

9.  Interest Receivable
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  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s

 Pensions (142,426) (120,711) 

 Seconded Officers (199) (348) 

 External Funding Grants (5) (396) 

 Other Income (297) (120) 

 Total (142,927) (121,575) 

  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s 

 Interest Payable on Outstanding Debt 3,920 4,075 

 Total 3,920 4,075 

  Year to 31 March Year to 31 March
   2016  2015 
  £000s   £000s 

 Interest Receivable on Heritable Bank investments (121) 0

 Other interest receivable (2) 0

 Total (123) (0)
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10. trade and Other Receivables

Analysis by type

 Amounts falling due within one year As at 31 March As at 31 March
   2016  2015 
  £000s   £000s 

 Prepayments 5,477 4,685   

 Trade Receivables 1,890 7,551 

 Total 7,367 12,236 

Analysis by Organisation

 Amounts falling due within one year As at 31 March As at 31 March
   2016  2015 
  £000s   £000s 

 Other Entities and Individuals 6,332 5,175  

 Central Government Bodies 996 6,953 

 Other Local Authorities 39 108 

 Total 7,367 12,236 

Included within the figure of £0.996 million for Central Government Bodies is a balance of £0.872 million (£6.858m year 
ended 31 March 2015) which relates to Firefighters’ Pensions.  This is receivable from the Scottish Government.  Further 
analysis is shown in Note 28. 
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11. trade and Other Payables

Analysis by type

Analysis by Organisation

12.  Corporation tax

Corporation Tax is due on profits generated by the SFRS.  £0.004 million is payable to HMRC for year ended 31 March 
2016 (£0.004 million year ended 31 March 2015).

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

   As at 31 March As at 31 March
   2016  2015 
  £000s   £000s

Government Banking System bank account 1,169 1,580 

Total 1,169 1,580 
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 Amounts falling due within one year As at 31 March As at 31 March
   2016  2015 
  £000s   £000s

Accruals and deferred income 15,813 19,729  

Trade and Other Payables 8,622 5,561

Other Taxation and Social Security 3,985 3,296  

Total 28,420 28,586

 Amounts falling due within one year As at 31 March As at 31 March
   2016  2015 
  £000s   £000s

 Bodies External to Government 17,724 18,550 

 Central Government Bodies 5,717 4,544  

 Accumulated Absences 3,795 3,653

 Local Authorities 1,184 1,839

 Total 28,420 28,586 
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• The Fire 2015 Scheme was introduced on 1 April 2015  
 and is a CARE scheme rather than a final salary pension  
 scheme.  All new employees entering the Service  
 will join this Scheme automatically.  Under the new  
 arrangements the normal pension age for firefighters  
 will be 60 which reflects the current retirement age  
 for the 2006 Scheme.  Firefighters who were  
 previously in the 1992 or 2006 Scheme’s joined the  
 2015 Scheme automatically on 1 April 2015 where no  
 protection was in place., A further group have  
 transferred to this scheme, or will transfer, between  
 now and 2022 depending on their circumstances.  The  
 remaining group of firefighters will remain in their  
 existing schemes.

• The SFRS has powers to make awards of injury  
 benefits in the event of firefighters leaving through  
 injury.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of  
 an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year  
 of the decision to make the award and accounted for  
 using the same principles as those applied to the  
 relevant pension schemes.  Similar to the FPS and  
 NFPS, there are no assets held to back the liabilities of  
 this scheme, and cash must be generated to meet  
 actual payments as they fall due.

From 1 April 2015 the Scottish Public Pensions 
Agency (SPPA) become responsible for administering 
the Firefighters Schemes. The LGPS are currently 
administered by the following local authorities: Dumfries 
and Galloway Council, Dundee City Council, Falkirk 
Council, Fife Council, Highland Council, Lothian 
Pensions Fund, North East Scotland Pension Fund and 
Strathclyde Pension Fund.  

The liabilities in respect of Pensions are significant, 
however statutory arrangements are in place to fund the 
deficits:

• LGPS deficits will be funded through increased  
 contributions over the remaining working lives of  
 employees as assessed by the various Scheme  
 actuaries.
 
• Firefighters’ Pension Schemes will be funded through  
 increased contributions over the remaining working  
 lives of employees as assessed by national pension  
 administrators and specific grant receivable from the  
 Scottish Government to meet any funding shortfalls.

14. Pensions
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its 
employees, the SFRS offers retirement benefits. Although 
these benefits will not actually be payable until employees 
retire, the SFRS has a commitment to disclose the 
payments to be made in the future.

The SFRS currently participates in the four defined benefits 
pension schemes and a discretionary injury benefits 
scheme set out below:

• The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for  
 support staff is a funded scheme, meaning that the SFRS  
 and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated  
 at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities  
 with investment assets.  The employer contribution  
 rate in 2015/16 was between 17.1% and 22.6% of 
 the employees’ pensionable pay, and has been set at  
 rates between 17% and 23.5% in 2016/17, depending  
 on which local authority the employee’s pension is held  
 with. Employee contribution rates are tiered dependent  
 on salary.  This is now a CARE scheme for new entrants,  
 whereby pension benefits are based on earnings within  
 each year worked, not final salary as previously, which  
 are index linked and totalled on retirement to provide an  
 annual pension.

• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS) for  
 wholetime uniformed personnel. This is an unfunded  
 scheme, meaning there are no investment assets  
 built up to meet pension liabilities, and cash has to  
 be generated to meet actual pension payments as they  
 eventually fall due.  As at 5 April 2006 this scheme was  
 closed to new members.

• The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS) is for  
 wholetime and retained uniformed personnel, and is  
 also unfunded, similar to the FPS.  As this scheme came  
 into effect on 6 April 2006, the pension liabilities and  
 service costs are lower in comparison to the FPS.  The  
 majority of personnel in this Scheme transferred  
 to the Fire 2015 Scheme on 1st April 2015.  A recent  
 development within this Scheme has been to allow  
 retained firefighters who were employed by the Service  
 between 1 July 2000 and 5 April 2006, access to  
 purchase benefits to this Scheme to provide them  
 with comparable pension benefits to those enjoyed  
 by wholetime firefighter’s during this period. This sub  
 Scheme is known as the Retained Duty System (RDS)  
 Modified Pension Scheme.
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Four actuaries (Government Actuary’s Department (GAD), 
Barnett Waddingham LLP, Hymans Robertson LLP and 
Mercer) were engaged to assess the value of the SFRS’ 
liability as at 31 March 2016, as they were the actuaries for 
each of the respective Pension Funds noted above.  They 
have calculated the liabilities of the members transferring to 
the SFRS at their respective transfer dates and then rolled 
forward the value of the employer’s liabilities allowing for 
the financial assumptions required under IAS19. 

GAD undertook the valuation of the Firefighter’s Scheme’s 
for the first time for this accounting period and have 
provided one valuation figure for all the Firefighter 
Schemes as opposed to splitting the liabilities between 
the different Schemes.

The full actuarial valuation involved projecting future 
cashflows to be paid and placing a value on them.  These 
cashflows include pensions that may be payable in future 
to members of all schemes or their dependents.  Whilst 
it is not possible to assess the accuracy of the liability as 
at 31 March 2016 without completing a full valuation, the 
actuaries are satisfied that the approach of rolling forward 
the previous valuation data to 31 March 2016 will not 
materially distort results, providing actual experience is in 
line with underlying assumptions.

The projected unit method of valuation has been used to 
calculate the service cost, as required by IAS19.

The main assumptions used in their calculations are shown 
in the following table:
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 Assumption LGPS Firefighters’ Schemes Injury Benefits

   Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

  31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 

 Long-term expected rate of  
 return on assets in the scheme         

 Equity Investments 3.8% 3.2% - 3.3%      

 Bonds 3.8% 3.2% - 3.3%      

 Property 3.8% 3.2% - 3.3%      

 Cash 3.8% 3.2% - 3.3%      

 Mortality assumptions:          

 Longevity at 60 for
 current pensioners          

 Men   25.7 28.1 - 29.5  25.7 25.5 - 29.5 

 Women    30.6 - 31.7   28 - 31.7 

 Longevity at 60 for
 future pensioners         

 Men   27.5 30.6 - 31.1  27.5 27.9 - 31.1 

 Women    33.1 - 33.2   30.4 - 33.2 

 Longevity at 65 for
 current pensioners          

 Men 21.3 - 22.7 21.2 - 22.7   20.6  20.6 

 Women 23.3 - 24.8 23.2 - 24.7   22.8  22.8 

 Longevity at 65 for 
 future pensioners        

 Men 23.5 - 24.8 23.4 - 24.8  22.0  22.0 

 Women 25.6 - 27.6 25.5 - 27.5  24.3  24.3 

 Rate of inflation (RPI) 3.2% - 3.3%  3.2% - 3.3%  3.2% - 3.3%  3.2% - 3.4% 

 Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.0% - 2.4% 2.0% - 2.4% 2.2% 2.0% - 2.4% 2.2% 2.0% - 2.4% 

 Rate of increase in salaries 3.5% - 4.4% 3.5% - 4.4% 4.2% 3.75%-4.6% 4.2% 3.4%-4.6% 

 Rate of increase in pensions 2.2% 2.0% - 2.5% 2.2% 2.0% - 2.4% 2.2% 2.0% - 2.4% 

 Rate for discounting 
 scheme liabilities 3.5% - 3.6% 3.2% - 3.3% 3.6% 3.2% -3.3% 3.6% 3.2 %- 3.3% 
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In year ended 31 March 2016, membership consists of 
those employees who transferred from legacy Fire and 
Rescue Services on 1 April 2013 plus new entrants.

With regards the discount rates used in the valuation the 
actuaries have applied different discount rates as follows:

• GAD: the discount rate used is the rate published  
 in the HMT Public Expenditure System note dated 2  
 December 2015 for accounts prepared under FReM.   
 This is a change in accounting estimate from that used  
 by the actuaries carrying out the valuation in previous  
 years.  As per the Service’s accounting policies the  
 change will be accounted for prospectively i.e. in the  
 current and future years affected by the change. 

• Barnett Waddingham: the discount rate applied is the  
 annualised yield at the 19 year point on the Merill Lynch  
 AA rated corporate bond yield curve for the LGPS. This  
 method was chosen to meet the requirements of the  
 IAS19 and with consideration of the employer’s  
 liabilities.   This actuary measured 11% of the total LGPS  
 pension liability.

• Hymans Robertson: a Corporate Bond yield curve  
 has been constructed using the UBS corporate bond  
 curve (derived by applying the UBS delta curve fitting  
 methodology to the constituents of the iBoxx £  
 Corporate AA index) for durations up to 8 years and  
 from 12 years onwards use a gilts curve plus a long term  
 average credit spread of 0.9% p.a.  Interpolation  
 between the two approaches is used for durations  
 between 8 and 12 years. This actuary measured 77% of  
 the total LGPS pension liability.

• Mercer: the discount rate has been determined from  
 a yield curve including all corporate bonds with an AA  
 rating from one of the three main agencies and that  
 meet Mercer’s criteria for inclusion.  This actuary  
 measured 12% of the total LGPS pension liability.

The RPI increase assumptions for each actuary are also 
different, as follows:

• Barnett Waddingham based their rate on the difference  
 between conventional gilt yields and index-linked gilt  
 yields at the accounting date using data published by  
 the Bank of England, specifically the 19 year point on the  
 Bank of England spot inflation curve.  

• The Hymans Robertson rate is typically derived  
 from yields available on fixed interest and index linked  
 government bonds, and should be consistent with the  
 derivation of the discount rate.

• Mercer also uses the yield curve approach, deriving  
 inflation from spot rates of conventional and index-linked  
 gilts applicable to each duration at which liabilities are  
 projected to be paid in the future.

Expected Return on Assets
The FPS is unfunded and therefore no assets back the 
scheme.  

For the LGPS, for accounting years beginning on or after 
1 January 2013, the expected return and the interest cost 
has been replaced with a single net interest cost, which 
effectively sets the expected return equal to the IAS19 
discount rate. The assets held by the Pension Funds are 
valued at fair value, principally market value for investments.

88



Working together for a safer Scotland

Statement of Net Comprehensive Expenditure
The following transactions have been made in the SoCNE in relation to the LGPS and both Firefighter schemes.

  LGPS Combined FPS Injury Benefits LGPS Combined FPS Injury Benefits 
 Narrative Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended 
  31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Current service costs / (gains) 7,032 85,500 6,900 6,594 69,327 8,058 

 Past service costs / (gains) 957 35,400 0 2,305 0 0 

 Losses / (gains) on curtailments 229 0 0 224 0 0 
 and settlements

 Admin Expenses 8 0 0 13 0 0 

 Total Service cost 8,226 120,900 6,900 9,136 69,327 8,058 

 Employer contribution (5,932) (99,500) (2,300) (6,439) (72,121) (1,985)

 Deducted from Staff Costs 2,834 21,400 4,600 2,697 (2,794) 6,073

 Net Interest Cost * 2,091 112,100 6,900 2,245 125,991 7,331 

 Impact on Net Expenditure 
 after Interest 4,925 133,500 11,500 4,942 123,197 13,404

 Remeasurements recognised in 
 Other Comprehensive Income      

 Actuarial (gains) / losses (24,531) (625,200) (154,700) 8,703 448,106 29,458

* Note: the following table extracts figures from above to allow easier reconciliation to the figures shown for total Net 
Interest Cost and Actuarial Gains and Losses in the SOCNE and SOCITE for LGPS, Combined FPS and Injury Benefits.

The table above reflects a significant change in actuarial gains during 2015/16. The main reason for this is a change in 
financial assumptions in comparison to the previous year. Changes to assumptions for mortality and demographics have 
also led to reduction in the liability.
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  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016  31 March 2015
  £000s   £000s

 Net Interest Cost  

 LGPS 2,091 2,245  

 Combined FPS 112,100 125,991  

 Injury Benefits 6,900 7,331  

 Total Net Interest Cost 121,091 135,567 

 Actuarial (Gains) / Losses  

  LGPS (24,531) 8,703  

 Combined FPS (625,200) 448,106  

 Injury Benefits (154,700) 29,458  

 Total Actuarial (Gains) / Losses (804,431) 486,267 
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Statement of Financial Position
IAS19 requires the SFRS to account for pension liabilities of £3.044 million as at 31 March 2016, (£3.555 million as at 31 
March 2015) as valued by the actuaries mentioned above.

The liabilities as at 31 March 2016 show the underlying 
commitments that the SFRS has in the long-run to 
pay retirement benefits. The total liability of £3.113 
billion has a substantial impact on the net worth of the 
SFRS as recorded in the SoFP, resulting in a negative 
overall balance of £2.657 billion.  However, statutory 
arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial 
position of the SFRS remains healthy:

• The deficit on the local government scheme will be  
 made good by increased contributions from the SFRS  
 over the remaining working life of employees, as  
 assessed by the scheme actuary, to ensure that accrued  
 benefits can be paid.  The total future contributions  
 expected to be made year ended 2017 to the LGPS by  
 the SFRS based on current membership in the year  
 ended 31 March 2016 is £4.435 million.  

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover  
 firefighters’ pensions and injury benefits when the  
 payments are actually made.  GAD have calculated   
 that the expected future contributions to be made year  
 ended 2017 (based on current membership in the year  
 ended 31 March 2016) will be 47.97% of pensionable  
 salaries for the Firefighters Pension Schemes and   
 0.48% of pensionable salaries for injury benefits.   
 Under recent arrangements, Firefighters’ Pensions will  
 be funded by the Scottish Government.
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   As at Year ended As at Year ended
  31 March 2016  31 March 2015
  £000s   £000s

 Present value of liabilities:  

  - Local Government Pension Scheme (242,193) (256,148) 

  -Firefighters Pension Schemes (2,999,493) (3,491,193) 

  - Injury Benefits (69,062) (212,262) 

 Fair value of assets in the Local Government Pension Scheme 197,571 191,920 

 Total (3,113,177) (3,767,683) 

 Deficit in the scheme:  

  - Local Government Pension Scheme 44,622 64,228 

  - Firefighters Pension Schemes 2,999,493 3,491,193 

   3,044,115 3,555,421 

  - Injury Benefits 69,062 212,262 

 Total 3,113,177 3,767,683 
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The table below shows the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members for each of 
the schemes.
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 LGPS Firefighters’  Schemes Injury Benefits    
 Years Years Years  
  
  Year ended  Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
  31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Weighted average 
duration of the defined 20.6 20.6 17.1 20.2 15.0 22.4
benefit obligation
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Asset and Defined Benefit Obligation Reconciliation

Reconciliation of opening and closing 
surplus / (deficit)

 

 (Deficit) at beginning of year

Current Service Cost

Employer Contributions

Past Service Costs

Curtailments / Settlements

Admin Expenses

Net Interest Cost

Actuarial gains / (losses)

(Deficit) at end of year

Reconciliation of opening and closing 
balances of the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation

Opening Defined Benefit Obligation

Current Service cost

Interest Cost

Member Contributions

Curtailments / Settlements

Past Service Costs

Transfers In from Other Authorities

Transfers In from Other Authorities

Estimated Benefits paid

Actuarial gains / (losses)

Closing Defined Benefit Obligation

Reconciliation of opening and closing 
balances of the fair value of Scheme 
assets

 

Opening fair value of Scheme assets

Expected return on Scheme assets

Member Contributions

Employer Contributions 

Admin Expenses

Estimated Benefits paid

Actuarial gains / (losses)

Fair value of Scheme assets at end of 
period

LGPS
Year ended 

31 March 
2016

£000s

(64,228)

(7,032)

5,392

(957)

(229)

(8)

(2,091)

24,531

(44,622)

(256,148)

(7,032)

(8,290)

(1,380)

(229)

(957)

0

0

5,603

26,240

(242,193)

LGPS
Year ended 

31 March
2016

£000s

191,920

6,199

1,380

5,392

(8)

(5,603)

(1,709)

197,571

Combined 
FPS

Year ended 
31 March 

2016
£000s

(3,491,193)

(85,500)

99,500

(35,400)

0

0

(112,100)

625,200

(2,999,493)

(3,491,193)

(85,500)

(112,100)

0

0

(35,400)

(200)

1,700

98,000

625,200

(2,999,493)

LGPS
Year ended 

31 March
2015

£000s

165,914

7,271

1,464

6,439

(13)

(4,886)

15,731

191,920

Injury 
Benefits

Year ended 
31 March 

2016
£000s

(212,262)

(6,900)

2,300

0

0

0

(6,900)

154,700

(69,062)

(212,262)

(6,900)

6,900

0

0

0

0

0

2,300

154,700

(69,062)

LGPS
Year ended 

31 March 
2015

£000s

(50,583)

(6,594)

6,439

(2,305)

(224)

(13)

(2,245)

(8,703)

(64,228)

(216,497)

(6,594)

(9,516)

(1,464)

(224)

(2,305)

0

0

4,886

(24,434)

(256,148)

Combined 
FPS

Year ended 
31 March 

2015
£000s

(2,919,890)

(69,327)

72,121

0

0

0

(125,991)

(448,106)

(3,491,193)

(2,919,890)

(69,327)

(125,991)

(18,503)

0

0

(100)

1,200

89,524

(448,106)

(3,941,193)

Injury 
Benefits

Year ended 
31 March 

2015
£000s

(169,400)

(8,058)

1,985

0

0

0

(7,331)

(29,458)

(212,262)

(169,400)

(8,058)

(7,331)

0

0

0

0

0

1,985

(29,458)

(212,262)
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The FPS has no assets to cover its liabilities. LGPS assets are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments.  
The expected return on LGPS assets is based on the long-term future expected investment return for each asset class. These 
assets consist of the following categories:

   Year ended 31 March 2016   Year ended 31 March 2015
 Asset Quoted Prices not Total Quoted Prices not Total
   Prices in quoted in  Prices in quoted in
   Active an active  Active an active
   Markets market  markets market   
   £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Equity Securities      

  Consumer 19,284 2 19,286 18,184 2 18,186  

  Manufacturing 13,913 70 13,983 13,884 65 13,949

  Energy and Utilities 7,055 0 7,055 7,866 0 7,866

  Financial Institutions 13,847 1 13,848 13,582 0 13,582

  Health and Care 7,790 2 7,792 7,777 2 7,779

  Information Technology 10,477 8 10,485 9,757 8 9,765

  Other 14,737 4,166 18,903 19,442 0 19,442

  Sub-total 87,103 4,249 91,352 90,492 77 90,569

 Debt Securities      

  Corporate Bonds 3,014 1,399 4,413 1,966 111 2,076

  UK Government Bonds 5,205 185 5,390 4,570 182 4,753

  Other 1,977 4 1,981 3,626 4 3,630

  Sub-total 10,196 1,588 11,784 10,162 297 10,459

 Private Equity 363 11,795 12,158 0 14,257 14,257

 Property 4,180 15,421 19,601 2,102 14,300 16,402

 Investment Funds and Unit Trusts      

  Equities 10,447 24,897 35,344 10,780 25,876 36,656

  Bonds 758 12,677 13,435 1,990 11,854 13,844

  Commodities 125 0 125 139 0 139

  Infrastructure 180 2,215 2,395 184 626 810

  Other 2,254 2,148 4,402 2,284 280 2,564

  Sub-total 13,764 41,938 55,701 15,377 38,636 54,013

 Derivatives      

  Foreign Exchange (3) 0 (3) 47 0 47

  Other 23 0 23 29 0 29

  Sub-total 20 0 20 76 0 76

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,734 222 6,956 3,371 2,773 6,144

 Total 122,360 75,212 197,572 121,580 70,340 191,920
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Statement of Changes in taxpayers Equity
The actuarial gains and losses identified as movements on the Pensions Reserve for year ended 31 March 2016 can be 
analysed into the following categories, measured as a percentage of assets or liabilities and amounts as at 31 March 2016:

15.  Related Party transactions

SFRS is an Other Significant Public Body sponsored by the Scottish Government Directorate for Safer Communities.  The 
Scottish Government is regarded as a related party.  During the year, SFRS had various material transactions with the 
Scottish Government and in addition had a number of material transactions with other government bodies (HMRC, Debt 
Management Office (DMO), local authorities and LGPS offices).  During the year, apart from their service contracts, no 
Board member or senior employee or related parties have undertaken any material transactions with the SFRS.  Further 
information on Board members is contained within the Annual Governance Statement in the Annual report and can also be 
found on the SFRS website (www.firescotland.gov.uk/about-us/sfrs-board/board-members.aspx)

16.  Operating Leases

SFRS as Lessee 
The SFRS inherited a number of leases after the transfer of assets and liabilities from the legacy Fire and Rescue Services on 
1 April 2013.  Leases were entered into for a number of reasons including office accommodation; land on which to locate 
Community Fire Stations and garages to house fire appliances; radio masts for communications purposes; and cars for 
employees who meet the criteria.

   Year ended 31 March 2016   Year ended 31 March 2015

  LGPS FPS Injury LGPS FPS Injury
    Benefits   Benefits  
  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Actual return less expected return 
 on pension scheme assets (1,709) 0 0 15,731 0 0

 Changes in assumptions underlying the 
 present value of the scheme liabilities 26,240 625,200 154,700 (24,434) (448,106) (29,458)

 Actuarial gains / (losses) in 
 pension scheme 24,531 625,200 154,700 (8,703) (448,106) (29,458)

 

 Actuarial gains / (losses) recognised in 
 Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity 24,531 625,200 154,700 (8,703) (448,106) (29,458)
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The following tables show the future minimum payments committed to by the SFRS by category, and assumes charges will 
be in line with those paid for the year ended 31 March 2016.

The total charged to the SoCNE year ended 31 March 2016 for leases relating to Land and Buildings was £0.406 million 
(£0.484 million year ended 31 March 2015).  Many of the above leases are on a rolling basis and can therefore be cancelled 
at any time; therefore future lease payments for such leases have therefore not been included in the above table.

The total charged to the SoCNE year ended 31 March 2016 for car leases was £1.040 million. The comparative figures year 
ended 31 March 2015 are £0.859 million.

SFRS as Lessor
SFRS leases out property and equipment under operating leases for a number of purposes, including radio masts and 
accommodation to various agencies.  These leases can be cancelled at any time by SFRS and therefore no future lease 
payments can be guaranteed after 2016.  Rents receivable year ended 31 March 2016 totalled £0.297 million (£0.153 
million year ended 31 March 2015).

   Provisions less than one year   Provisions over one year 
  Insurance Employee Sub-total Insurance Employee Sub-total Total
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Land and Buildings (including radio masts)  Year ended Year ended
   31 March 2016 31 March 2015
   £000s £000s

Not later than one year  282 337

Later than one year but not later than 5 years  436 436

Later than 5 years  1,279 1,279

Total  1,997 2,052

  Vehicles, Plant and Equipment (Car leases)  Year ended  Year ended
    31 March 2016  31 March 2015
    £000s  £000s

 Not later than one year  805  462

 Later than one year but not later than 5 years  614  708

 Total  1,419  1,170
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17.  Provisions
The following table shows the provisions transferred from legacy services and adjusted/added to by the SFRS.  The 
provision for Insurance relates to obligations due in respect of all known insurance claims as at 31 March 2016.  Other 
provisions represent obligations due in respect of various employment liabilities, such as restructuring costs, ill-health 
retirals and uninsured claims.

18.  Future Capital Commitments
The following table reflects commitments to capital projects for the financial year ending 31 March 2017.

 Provisions less than one year   Provisions over one year

   Public & Other   Other
   Employee Employee   Employee
  Insurance Liability related  Sub-total Insurance related Sub-total Total
   Exposure liabilities   liabilities
  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Balance as at 1 April 2014 226 1,530 3,158 4,914 654 0 654 5,568  

 Additional provisions made 
 year ended 31 Mar 2015 107 200 398 705 320 0 320 1,025

 Amounts used
 year ended 31 Mar 2015 (9) 0 (3,043) (3,052) (27) 0 (27) (3,079)  

 Unused amounts reversed 
 year ended 31 Mar 2015 (50) (480) 306 (224) (152) 0 (152) (376)

 Balance as at 31 March 2015 274 1,250 819 2,343 795 0 795 3,138 

 Additional provisions made 385 73 0 458 75 0 75 533  
 year ended 31 Mar 2016

 Amounts used 
 year ended 31 Mar 2016 (207) (411) (263) (881) 0 0 0 (881)

 Unused amounts reversed 
 year ended 31 Mar 2015 (4) (4) (316) (324) 0 0 0 (324)  

 Balance as at 31 March 2016 448 908 240 1,596 870 0 870 2,466

   Year ended  
   31 March 2017 
   £000s

High Reach Appliances  2,750

Minor Works - Condition  2,000

North East Asset Resource Centre  1,700

Stornoway Fire Station Redevelopment  1,490

North Service Delivery Headquarters  620

Aberdeen City Local Senior Officer Accommodation  520

Command & Control System  214

Breathing Apparatus  150

Cutting Technology Pilot Project  27

Total  9,471

The table above reflects an adjustment of £0.025 million between short term and long term provisions in comparison to 
figures presented in the prior year accounts. This has also been reflected in the comparitive figures in the SoFP. The value is 
deemed to be immaterial.
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19.  Finance Leases
The SFRS has inherited finance leases from legacy services covering a fire station and garage at Lochaline and a number of 
photocopiers.  The photocopier leases expired during the year ended 31 March 2016, so there are no obligations to report 
for future years.  These assets are contained in the SoFP under Property, Plant and Equipment.  

The fire station and garage at Lochaline is an arrangement with Highland Council which commenced on 29 March 2012 
with a duration of 30 years.  A grassum was paid at the time and therefore there is no outstanding lease obligation.

The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered 
into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.

20.  Grant In Aid

Grant in Aid income received from the Scottish Government for the financial year ended 31 March 2016 was £287.083 
million compared to a budget of £288.481 million.  The budget figure includes additional funds of £8 million that were 
provided for working capital purposes due to changes in year-end creditors and accruals although the full amount was not 
required for financial year 2015/16.

No funds were drawn down in advance of need, as cash was only requested to meet expenditure as and when required.

21.  Long term Debtors
Long term debtors consist of loans to employees of a legacy service and arrears payable to the Firefighters Pension Scheme 
2015.
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  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015 
  £000s £000s

 Cash GIA received to meet operational expenditure 264,522 285,423 

 Cash GIA received to fund replacement capital expenditure 22,561 19,752 

 Total 287,083 305,175 

  As at As at
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s

Employee Pension Arrears repayment 3,008 0

Employee soft loans relating to service payroll transition 1,440 0

Employee soft loans relating to legacy service payroll transition 183 196

Total 4,631 196



Annual Report and Accounts 2015-2016

22.  Inventories
The main categories of inventory held are shown below.

23.  Resource limit – Outturn Year Ended 31 March 2016

 Category As at As at
   31 March 2016 31 March 2015
   £000s £000s

 Consumables 1,145 1,027

 Fuel 334 369
 Total 1,479 1,396

   Year ended 31 March 2016         Year ended 
     31 March 2015
 Expenditure Type Outturn Budget Variance Variance
  £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Department Expenditure Limit (DEL)    

 Net Resource Expenditure 254,945 255,181 (236) (6,796)

 Net Capital Expenditure  25,288 25,300 (12) (205)

 Total DEL expenditure 280,233 280,481 (248) (7,001)

 Ring-fenced DEL     

 Depreciation 21,647 24,679 (3,032) (726)

 Total Ring-fenced DEL 21,647 24,679 (3,032) (726)

 Impairment 1,516 10,000 (8,484) (5,504)

 Provisions 672 2,500 (1,828) (688)

 Total AME expenditure 2,188 12,500 (10,312) (6,192)

 Total Managed Expenditure 304,068 317,660 (13,592) (13,919)
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The outturn figures above are shown on an accruals basis.  
The total variance of £13.6 million represents both cash 
and non-cash underspends year ended 31 March 2016; 
the major contributing reasons are below.

Our key measure of financial performance is the 
comparison of expenditure against Departmental 
Expenditure Limit (DEL) funding provided by the Scottish 
Government.  The Net Resource Expenditure variance for 
year ended 31 March 2016 of £0.236 million relates to a 
combination of factors with the most significant being:

 • An underspend in employee costs of £1.606 million,  
  relating predominantly to Support Staff, including  
  private contractors, where vacancies proved  
  challenging to fill, and
 
 • An overspend in other operating costs of £1.370  
  million due to increases in insurance costs following  
  “Storm Frank”, delays in delivering savings in ICT due  
  to staff vacancies and increases in utility costs.

There was a small underspend in loan debt repayments of 
£0.100 million where payments were slightly lower than 
expected and there was a slight underspend of £0.012 
million on Capital DEL where goods were not received 
before the end of the financial year.

The Impairment budget of £10 million reflects the 
unknown impact of the Strategic Intent document 
produced by the SFRS, which detailed the future plans for 
the property portfolio, involving the release of properties 
no longer required.  In the coming years, this plan will 
result in the closure of several properties which have been 
valued using the depreciated replacement cost (DRC) 
method.  At the point where the decision has been made 
to commence the selling process and actively market the 
properties however, they will be revalued at market value, 
which will be considerably less and will be reflected in 
the accounts as significant impairments.  In year ended 31 
March 2016 however, only one of the properties identified 
for sale under Strategic Intent, was sold and the rest of the 
figure is as a result of impairment of properties through our 
normal rolling programme of property valuations.

The Provisions budget of £2.5 million was not fully 
required during the year.

24. Financial Instruments
Disclosure of Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from 
Financial Instruments

Key Risks
As the cash requirements of the Board are met through 
Grant in Aid provided by the Scottish Government, 
financial instruments play a more limited role in creating 
and managing risks than would apply to a non-public 
sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate to 
contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the Board’s 
expected purchase and usage requirements and the Board 
is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

The main elements of risks that the Board are exposed to 
are:

 • Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail  
  to pay amounts due to the Board;
 • Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Board might not  
  have funds available to meet its commitments to make  
  payments; and
 • Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might   
  arise for the Board as a result of changes in such   
  measures as interest rates and stock market  
  movements.

Overall Procedures for Managing Risk
The Board’s overall risk management procedures focus on 
the unpredictability of financial markets, and implementing 
restrictions to minimise these risks.  The Board formally 
adopts the requirements set out within the Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM) and the Scottish Public Finance 
Manual and through The Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee, ensures that appropriate risk management, 
governance and internal control systems, principles and 
policies are in place and operating effectively.  These 
principles are implemented and followed by the Finance 
Department.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and 
deposits with banks as well as credit exposure to 
customers.

For banks, funds are only held and transacted through 
Government Banking Scheme accounts and therefore 
there is little exposure to credit risks from these deposits.
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Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Board if a customer fails to meet their contractual obligations.  Customers for 
goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors, with 
individual credit limits being set in accordance with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by the Board.

The following analysis summaries the Board’s maximum exposure to credit risk on other financial assets, based on 
experience of default, adjusted to reflect current market conditions.

Collateral – During the reporting period the Board held no collateral as security.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Board will not be able to meets its financial obligations as they fall due.  This risk is managed 
by ensuring that enough funds are available to meet liabilities as they fall due by carrying out rigid and close monitoring of 
cashflow on a daily basis and regular reviews of expenditure requirements during the month.  The Board’s main source of 
income is Grant in Aid income provided by the Scottish Government.  Therefore, there is no significant risk that it will be 
unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments.

Of the £7.367 million total Trade and Other Receivables figure, £1.890 million relates to trade receivables.  The SFRS does 
not generally allow credit for its trade receivables, and all efforts will be made to ensure that debts are paid.

The past due amount can be analysed by age as follows:

  As at 31 March 2016 As at 31 March 2015  

  £000s £000s

 Less than three months 1,419 7,501

 Three to six months 420 23

 Six months to one year 36 6

 More than one year 15 21

 Total 1,890 7,551

 Narrative As at 31 March 2016 As at 31 March 2015

  £000s £000s

 Trade Receivables 1,890 7,551  

 Total 1,890 7,551 
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Financial Instruments Balances
The borrowings disclosed in the SoFP are made up of the following categories of financial instruments:

Financial Liabilities by Category

*The SFRS is responsible for loans from legacy services, including a mix of PWLB and market borrowing made by several Councils which was 
passed on to the former services.  These loans are accounted for in the Councils’ loans fund, and the SFRS is liable to make interest and principal 
repayments to the Councils.    

Financial Assets by Category

 Other Financial Assets As at 31 March 2016 As at 31 March 2015
  Current Non-Current Current Non-Current
  £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Trade and other receivables not including non-financial assets 1,890 0 7,551 0

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,169 0 1,580 0

 Total Financial assets 3,059 0 9,131 0

Unusual Movements
There have been no unusual movements throughout the year.

Reclassification
There has been no reclassification of a financial instrument throughout the year.

Derecognition of instruments
There has been no derecognition of a financial instrument throughout the year.

Defaults and Breaches
There have been no defaults and breaches throughout the year.
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 Loans and Payables As at 31 March 2016 As at 31 March 2015
  Current Non-Current Current Non-Current
  £000s £000s £000s £000s

 Loans direct from PWLB / National Loans Fund 1,421 38,287 2,370 39,742

 Loans direct from Commercial Lenders 0 1,500 0 1,500

 Loans from Scottish Local Authorities* 693 22,649 3,384 22,705  

 Trade and other payables not including non-financial liabilities 8,622 0 5,562 0

 Total Financial liabilities 10,736 62,436 11,316 63,947
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Financial instruments Gains/Losses
The gains and losses recognised in the SoCNE in relation to financial instruments are made up as follows:

  Financial Liabilities Financial Assets Total
  Other Liabilities Loans and receivables
  £000s £000s £000s

Interest expense 3,920 0 3,920

Impairment losses 0 0 0

Interest payable and similar charges 3,920 0 3,920

Interest income (123) 0 (123)

Interest and investment income 0 0 0

Net gain/(loss) for the year 3,797 0 3,797

Financial Instruments Gains / Losses Year ended 31 March 2016

  Financial Liabilities Financial Assets Total
  Other Liabilities Loans and receivables
  £000s £000s £000s

Interest expense 4,075 0 4,075

Impairment losses 0 0 0

Interest payable and similar charges 4,075 0 4,075

Interest income 0 0 -

Interest and investment income 0 0 -

Net gain/(loss) for the year 4,075 0 4,075

Financial Instruments Gains / Losses Year ended 31 March 2015
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Fair value of Assets and Liabilities
Financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables are carried on the SoFP.  Their fair value can be 
assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instruments, using 
the following assumptions:

 • For loans from the PWLB and other loans payable, premature repayment rates from the PWLB have been applied to   
  provide the fair value under PWLB debt redemption procedures;
 • For loans receivable prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to provide the fair value;
 • No early repayment or impairment is recognised;
 • Where an instrument has a maturity of less than 12 months, or is a trade or other receivable, the fair value is taken to be   
  the carrying amount or the billed amount;
 • The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.

The fair values calculated are as follows:

 As at 31 March 2016 As at 31 March 2015
  Carrying Fair value Carrying  Fair value
  amount  amount
  Non-Current Non-Current Non-Current Non-Current
  £000s £000s £000s £000s

Loans direct from PWLB / National Loans Fund 38,287 55,155 39,742 57,706

Loans direct from Commercial Lenders 1,500 2,543 1,500 2,493

Loans from Scottish Local Authorities 22,649 28,992 22,705 29,647

Total debt 62,436 86,690 63,947 89,846

Other financial liabilities 0 0 1,629 1,629

Total Financial liabilities 62,436 86,690 65,576 91,475

The fair values for financial liabilities have been determined by reference to the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) 
redemption rules and prevailing PWLB redemption rates as at each SoFP date, and include accrued interest.  The fair 
values for non-PWLB debt has also been calculated using the same procedures and interest rates and this provides a sound 
approximation for fair value for these instruments.

The fair values for loans have been determined by reference to the PWLB redemption rules which provide a good 
approximation for the fair value of a financial instrument. The comparator market rates prevailing have been taken from 
indicative investment rates at each SoFP date.  In practice, rates will be determined by the size of the transaction and the 
counterparty, but it is impractical to use these figures, and the difference is likely to be immaterial.

The fair value is greater than the carrying amount because the Board’s portfolio of loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest 
rate payable is higher than the rates available for similar loans in the market at the SoFP date.
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25.  Non-Current Assets

tangible Assets as at 31st March 2016
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tangible Assets as at 31st March 2015
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Note 1: Donated assets shown in the table above include vehicles and operational equipment provided to the legacy 
services which transferred to the SFRS on 1 April 2013.  These will be used for fire and rescue purposes in accordance with 
terms and conditions set out by Scottish Government.  

Note 2: Depreciation and impairment figures shown in the SOCNE reconcile to the following figures in the previous tables:

 £000s £000s

 Note 25 SOCNE

Depreciation charge in the year – Tangible Assets 20,634 -
Depreciation charge in the year – Intangible Assets 1,013 -
Impairments – SOCNE – Tangible Assets 1,348 -
Impairments - SOCNE - Assets held for sale 168 -
Depreciation and Impairment - 23,163 
Total Depreciation and Impairment 23,163 23,163

Note 3: Revaluation Gain figure shown in the SOCNE comes from the following figures in the tables above:-

 £000s £000s

 Note 25 SOCNE

Revaluation – Revaluation Reserve – Tangible Assets (2,663) -
Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve – Tangible Assets 8,432 -
Impairments – Revaluation Reserve – Tangible Assets 5,988 -
Impairments - Revaluation Reserve - Assets held for sale (35) -
Depreciation and Impairment - 11,722
Total Net Gain on revaluation of PPE 11,722 11,722
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Intangible Assets as at 31st March 2016
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 Intangible Assets
  Software Total
  £000s £000s

 Cost or valuation  

 As at 1 April 2015 3,353 3,353

 Additions 15 15

 Transfers in/out 0 0

 Disposals 0 0

 Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 

 

 As at 31 March 2016 3,368 3,368

 Depreciation  

 As at 1 April 2015 (1,059) (1,059)

 Depreciation charge for year (1,013) (1,013)  

 Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 Impairments – Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 Impairments – SoCNE 0 0

 

 As at 31 March 2016 (2,072) (2,072)

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2016 1,297 1,297

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2015 2,295 2,295

  

 Asset Financing:  

 Owned 1,297 1,297 

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2016 1,297 1,297
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Intangible Assets as at 31st March 2015

 Intangible Assets
  Software Total
  £000s £000s

 Cost or valuation  

 As at 1 April 2014 2,725 2,725

 Additions 629 629

 Transfers in/out 0 0

 Disposals 0 0

 Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 

 

 As at 31 March 2015 3,354 3,354

 Depreciation  

 As at 1 April 2014 (188) (188)

 Depreciation charge for year (871) (871)

 Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 Impairments – Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 Impairments – SoCNE 0 0

 

 As at 31 March 2015 (1,059) (1,059)

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2015 2,295 2,295

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2014 2,537 2,537

  

 Asset Financing:  

 Owned 2,295 2,295 

 Carrying amount as at 31 March 2015 2,295 2,295
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26.  Impairments and Revaluations

At 31 March 2016, all land, buildings and dwellings assets 
due for valuation under the five year rolling programme 
of valuations, were valued by the in-house Estates and 
Valuations Surveyor (Russell Munn BSc MRICS).  The basis 
of these valuations was as follows:
 
 • Land and Buildings, where there is no market-based   
  evidence of fair value: Depreciated Replacement Cost  
  (DRC)
 • All other Land and Buildings:Existing Use Value (EUV)

This resulted in impairments of £1.516 million, reflected 
as a charge in the SoCNE, and revaluation increases of 
£11.722 million, shown as a gain in the SoCNE and a 
charge to the Revaluation Reserve.

Other non-current assets are valued at depreciated historic 
cost.

27. Contingent Liabilities

(a) In March 2013, four former employees of a legacy  
  Joint Fire Board lodged a legal claim against the  
  Service in relation to a pension issue, which  
  subsequently transferred to the SFRS on 1 April 2013.   
  No provision was made for this contingent liability as  
  the claim was repudiated by the Board at the time, and  
  this continues to be the position of the SFRS.

(b) It has been previously identified that provision  
  should be made in the Annual Accounts for all  
  liabilities in relation to insurance claims against the  
  SFRS, both known and unknown.  The provisions  
  shown in Note 17 represent those claims that are  
  known.  Values cannot be placed upon those claims  
  that have been incurred but not reported, i.e.  
  incidents have occurred but claims have still to be  
  submitted, and therefore a contingent liability exists.

(c) A ruling was made in November 2014 by the  
  Employment Appeal Tribunal that the calculation of  
  holiday pay should include compulsory overtime –  
  SFRS has not included this item when calculating  
  holiday pay in the past.  The Bear Scotland Ltd v Fulton  
  and others case allowed room to appeal and therefore  

  the ruling may be subject to change.  Discussions  
  are ongoing regarding the impact on SFRS but no firm  
  agreement is in place at this point.

(d) After a legal challenge by the Fire Brigade’s Union in  
  relation to firefighters who joined the 1992  
  Firefighters’ Pension Scheme aged 18-20 the  
  Secretary of State conceded the case. Current  
  employees who are members of this pension scheme  
  and are under the aged of 50 who have accrued 30  
  years’ service will be allowed to take a contribution  
  holiday from paying pension contributions from the  
  time they attain 30 years’ reckonable service until they  
  reach age 50.  Retired employees will also be  
  entitled to a refund of contributions paid while they  
  were employed.  Values cannot be placed on the  
  refund of contributions due to be paid back to current  
  and retired employees at this time therefore a  
  contingent liability exists.

(e) The Fire Bridge’s Union have launched a legal  
  challenge against the current transitional protection  
  arrangements implemented with the introduction of  
  the Fire 2015 Pension Scheme.  The legal challenge  
  will take some time to reach a conclusion with no  
  significant developments expected before 2017  
  however, a contingent liability exists in relation to the  
  pension fund should the case be successful.

28. Firefighters’ Pensions Reconciliation
The requirements to prepare a Firefighters’ Pension 
Account for the SFRS were specified in the Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme Amendment (Scotland) (No.2) Order 
2010 (SSI 332/2010; see also SSI 333/2010).  This order 
has now been revoked, however this reconciliation is 
provided to demonstrate good practice and maintain a 
record of payments made and income received in respect 
of Firefighters’ pensions.

Funding for Fire Pension payments, with the exception 
of ill-health and injury benefits, is not included in the GiA 
funding provided by the Scottish Government.  A specific 
grant is paid to the SFRS to take account of the funding 
required to meet the cost of employer contributions.

Although the Firefighters’ Pension Account operates on an 
accruals basis, provisions for potential retirement  
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(e.g. commuted sums) are not included as a charge 
against the Firefighters’ Pension Account. The table below 
illustrates the transactions on the Pension Account.

The deficit of £0.872 million shown above is contained within the Trade and Other Receivables figure of £0.996 million for 
Central Government Bodies shown in Note 10(b).  

Note 1: Officer’s Contributions – Following a successful claim by part time uniformed firefighters, they now have access to 
the Firefighter’s Pension Scheme, backdated to December 2000 were applicable.  This change was implemented by the 
Service year ended 31 March 2016 and eligible firefighters were opted in to the Pension Scheme.  In order for them to join 
the Pension Scheme they had to pay pension contributions based on their earnings for the period December 2000 to July 
2006. This has resulted in additional income to the Service for year ended 31 March 2016 totalling £5.590 million and is 
included in the Officer’s contributions figure above. 

Note 2: Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits – In May 2015, the Pensions Ombudsman upheld a complaint 
in relation to lack of review by the Government Actuary Department (GAD) of commutation factors for the FPS between 
1998 and 2006.  The decision was that new tables for calculating lump sum pension commutation figures would be issued, 
which would result in many firefighters who retired between 1998 and 2006 being paid higher lump sums.   In year ended 
31 March 2016 the SPPA calculated and paid out the higher lump sums to the retired firefighters who were affected by 
this ruling.  The payments made by SPPA totalled £12.929 million and were fully funded by way of a grant from Scottish 
Government to the Service.  

  Year ended Year ended
  31 March 2016 31 March 2015
  £000s £000s

 

 Contributions receivable:  

  

 Fire and Rescue Service:  

 Contributions based on pensionable pay (29,539) (26,376)  

 Early retirements (1,266) (936)

 Transfer Values In (145) (201)

 Officers’ contributions (22,995) (18,661)

 Seconded Officer Income (22) (23)

 Total Receivable (53,967) (46,197) 

 

 Benefits payable:  

 Pensions 79,332 75,229

 Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 31,438 17,534

 Lump sum death benefits 412 71

 Transfer values paid 1,727 1,535

 Total Benefits Payable 112,909 94,369

  

 Deficit before Funding (58,942) (48,172)

 Creditor /(Debtor) at start of financial year 6,858 3,616

 Fire Pension Grant – total grant received 80,751 64,074

 Less: Employers Contributions (29,539) (26,376)  

 Carried forward deficit as at 31 March 2016 (872) (6,858)
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29.  Assets held for sale as at 31 March 2016

111

 Assets held for sale Non Operational
  Assets Total
  £000s £000s

 Cost or valuation  

 As at 1 April 2015 280 280

 Additions 113 113

 Transfers in/out 13,397 13,397

 Disposals (410) (410)

 Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 

 

 As at 31 March 2016 13,380 13,380

 Depreciation  

 As at 1 April 2015 0 0  

 Depreciation charge for year 0 0  

 Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 Impairments – Revaluation Reserve (35) (35)

 Impairments – SoCNE (168) (168)

 

 As at 31 March 2016 (203) (203)

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2016 13,177 13,177

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2015 280 280

  

 Asset Financing:  

 Owned 13,177 13,177 

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2016 13,177 13,177
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Assets held for sale as at 31 March 2015

 Assets held for sale Non Operational
  Assets Total
  £000s £000s

 Cost or valuation  

 As at 1 April 2014 0 0

 Additions 0 0

 Transfers in/out 280 280

 Disposals 0 0 

Revaluation - Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 

 

 As at 31 March 2015 280 280

 Depreciation  

 As at 1 April 2014 0 0  

 Depreciation charge for year 0 0  

 Depreciation – Revaluation Reserve 0 0

 Impairments – Revaluation Reserve 0 0  

 Impairments – SoCNE 0 0 

 

 As at 31 March 2015 0 0

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2015 280 280

 Net Book Value as at 31 March 2014 0 0

  

 Asset Financing:  

 Owned 280 280 

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2015 280 280

30. Other Long term Liabilities

The Other Long Term Liabilities balance as at 31 March 2016, is zero, compared to the figure of £1.629 million as at 31 
March 2015, which was for voluntary severance packages agreed with employees that will become effective in year ended 
2016/17.
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THE SCOTTISH FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE
DIRECTION BY THE SCOTTISH MINISTERS

1. The Scottish Ministers, in pursuance of section 42A(1) of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 (inserted by section 118 of the Police 
and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012) hereby give the following direction.

2. The statement of accounts for the financial year ending 31 March 2016, and subsequent years, shall comply with the 
accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) 
which is in force for the year for which the statement of accounts are prepared.

3. The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the income and expenditure, recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial period and of the state of affairs at the end of the financial period.

4. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of accounts. 

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers

Dated         
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